
NEVADA STATE BOARD  

of 
DENTAL EXAMINERS 

 

 

 

Board Teleconference Meeting 

 

Tuesday, April 12, 2022 

6:00 p.m. 

 

 

PUBLIC BOOK  



Agenda Item 5(c):
NRS 631.3635

Public Book Board Meeting Page 2



NRS 631.3635  Appointment of panel to review investigation or informal hearing; members; 
requirements of review; findings and recommendation. 

      1.  The Board shall appoint a panel to review an investigation or informal hearing conducted 
pursuant to NRS 631.363. Such a panel must consist of: 

      (a) If the subject of the investigation or informal hearing is a holder of a license to practice 
dental hygiene, one member of the Board who is a holder of a license to practice dentistry, one 
member of the Board who is a holder of a license to practice dental hygiene and one holder of a 
license to practice dental hygiene who is not a member of the Board and is not the subject of the 
investigation or informal hearing. 

      (b) If the subject of the investigation or informal hearing is a holder of a license to practice 
dentistry or any other person not described in paragraph (a), one member of the Board who is a 
holder of a license to practice dentistry, one member of the Board who is a holder of a license to 
practice dental hygiene and one holder of a license to practice dentistry who is not a member of 
the Board and is not the subject of the investigation or informal hearing. 

      2.  A review panel appointed pursuant to subsection 1 shall, in conducting a review of an 
investigation or informal hearing conducted pursuant to NRS 631.363, review and consider, 
without limitation: 

      (a) All files and records collected or produced by the investigator; 

      (b) Any written findings of fact and conclusions prepared by the investigator; and 

      (c) Any other information deemed necessary by the review panel. 

      3.  The investigator who conducted the investigation or informal hearing pursuant to NRS 
631.363 shall not participate in a review conducted pursuant to subsection 1. 

      4.  Before the Board takes any action or makes any disposition relating to a complaint, the 
review panel appointed pursuant to subsection 1 to conduct a review of the investigation or 
informal hearing relating to the complaint shall present to the Board its findings and 
recommendation relating to the investigation or informal hearing, and the Board shall review and 
consider those findings and recommendations. 

      5.  Meetings held by a review panel appointed pursuant to subsection 1 are not subject to the 
provisions of chapter 241 of NRS. 

      (Added to NRS by 2017, 988) 

 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 3

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-241.html#NRS241
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/79th2017/Stats201706.html#Stats201706page988


Agenda Item 5(c)(1):
Discussion and consideration of proposed findings and 

recommendations for matters that have been 
recommended for remand by the Review Panel, and 

possible approval/rejection of same by the Board - NRS 
631.3635

Public Book Board Meeting Page 4



NRS 631.3635  Appointment of panel to review investigation or informal hearing; members; 
requirements of review; findings and recommendation. 

      1.  The Board shall appoint a panel to review an investigation or informal hearing conducted 
pursuant to NRS 631.363. Such a panel must consist of: 

      (a) If the subject of the investigation or informal hearing is a holder of a license to practice 
dental hygiene, one member of the Board who is a holder of a license to practice dentistry, one 
member of the Board who is a holder of a license to practice dental hygiene and one holder of a 
license to practice dental hygiene who is not a member of the Board and is not the subject of the 
investigation or informal hearing. 

      (b) If the subject of the investigation or informal hearing is a holder of a license to practice 
dentistry or any other person not described in paragraph (a), one member of the Board who is a 
holder of a license to practice dentistry, one member of the Board who is a holder of a license to 
practice dental hygiene and one holder of a license to practice dentistry who is not a member of 
the Board and is not the subject of the investigation or informal hearing. 

      2.  A review panel appointed pursuant to subsection 1 shall, in conducting a review of an 
investigation or informal hearing conducted pursuant to NRS 631.363, review and consider, 
without limitation: 

      (a) All files and records collected or produced by the investigator; 

      (b) Any written findings of fact and conclusions prepared by the investigator; and 

      (c) Any other information deemed necessary by the review panel. 

      3.  The investigator who conducted the investigation or informal hearing pursuant to NRS 
631.363 shall not participate in a review conducted pursuant to subsection 1. 

      4.  Before the Board takes any action or makes any disposition relating to a complaint, the 
review panel appointed pursuant to subsection 1 to conduct a review of the investigation or 
informal hearing relating to the complaint shall present to the Board its findings and 
recommendation relating to the investigation or informal hearing, and the Board shall review and 
consider those findings and recommendations. 

      5.  Meetings held by a review panel appointed pursuant to subsection 1 are not subject to the 
provisions of chapter 241 of NRS. 

      (Added to NRS by 2017, 988) 

 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 5

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-241.html#NRS241
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/79th2017/Stats201706.html#Stats201706page988


Agenda Item 5(c)(2):
Consideration, review, and possible approval/rejection of 
Stipulation Agreements – NRS 631.3635; NRS 622A.170; 

NRS 622.330 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 6



NRS 631.3635  Appointment of panel to review investigation or informal hearing; members; 
requirements of review; findings and recommendation. 

      1.  The Board shall appoint a panel to review an investigation or informal hearing conducted 
pursuant to NRS 631.363. Such a panel must consist of: 

      (a) If the subject of the investigation or informal hearing is a holder of a license to practice 
dental hygiene, one member of the Board who is a holder of a license to practice dentistry, one 
member of the Board who is a holder of a license to practice dental hygiene and one holder of a 
license to practice dental hygiene who is not a member of the Board and is not the subject of the 
investigation or informal hearing. 

      (b) If the subject of the investigation or informal hearing is a holder of a license to practice 
dentistry or any other person not described in paragraph (a), one member of the Board who is a 
holder of a license to practice dentistry, one member of the Board who is a holder of a license to 
practice dental hygiene and one holder of a license to practice dentistry who is not a member of 
the Board and is not the subject of the investigation or informal hearing. 

      2.  A review panel appointed pursuant to subsection 1 shall, in conducting a review of an 
investigation or informal hearing conducted pursuant to NRS 631.363, review and consider, 
without limitation: 

      (a) All files and records collected or produced by the investigator; 

      (b) Any written findings of fact and conclusions prepared by the investigator; and 

      (c) Any other information deemed necessary by the review panel. 

      3.  The investigator who conducted the investigation or informal hearing pursuant to NRS 
631.363 shall not participate in a review conducted pursuant to subsection 1. 

      4.  Before the Board takes any action or makes any disposition relating to a complaint, the 
review panel appointed pursuant to subsection 1 to conduct a review of the investigation or 
informal hearing relating to the complaint shall present to the Board its findings and 
recommendation relating to the investigation or informal hearing, and the Board shall review and 
consider those findings and recommendations. 

      5.  Meetings held by a review panel appointed pursuant to subsection 1 are not subject to the 
provisions of chapter 241 of NRS. 

      (Added to NRS by 2017, 988) 

  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 7

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-241.html#NRS241
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/79th2017/Stats201706.html#Stats201706page988


NRS 622A.170  Informal dispositions; consent and settlement agreements; designation of 
hearing panels. 

      1.  The provisions of this chapter do not affect or limit the authority of a regulatory body, at 
any stage of a contested case, to make an informal disposition of the contested case pursuant to 
subsection 5 of NRS 233B.121 or to enter into a consent or settlement agreement approved by 
the regulatory body pursuant to NRS 622.330. 

      2.  The provisions of this chapter do not affect or limit the authority of a regulatory body to 
designate a panel of its members to hear a contested case pursuant to this chapter. 

      (Added to NRS by 2005, 744) 

  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 8

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-233B.html#NRS233BSec121
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-622.html#NRS622Sec330
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/73rd/Stats200508.html#Stats200508page744


NRS 622.330  Consent and settlement agreements: Conditions for entry; deemed public 
records; exceptions. 

      1.  Except as otherwise provided in this section, a regulatory body may not enter into a 
consent or settlement agreement with a person who has allegedly committed a violation of any 
provision of this title which the regulatory body has the authority to enforce, any regulation 
adopted pursuant thereto or any order of the regulatory body, unless the regulatory body 
discusses and approves the terms of the agreement in a public meeting. 

      2.  A regulatory body that consists of one natural person may enter into a consent or 
settlement agreement without complying with the provisions of subsection 1 if: 

      (a) The regulatory body posts notice in accordance with the requirements for notice for a 
meeting held pursuant to chapter 241 of NRS and the notice states that: 

             (1) The regulatory body intends to resolve the alleged violation by entering into a 
consent or settlement agreement with the person who allegedly committed the violation; and 

             (2) For the limited time set forth in the notice, any person may request that the 
regulatory body conduct a public meeting to discuss the terms of the consent or settlement 
agreement by submitting a written request for such a meeting to the regulatory body within the 
time prescribed in the notice; and 

      (b) At the expiration of the time prescribed in the notice, the regulatory body has not 
received any requests for a public meeting regarding the consent or settlement agreement. 

      3.  If a regulatory body enters into a consent or settlement agreement that is subject to the 
provisions of this section, the agreement is a public record. 

      4.  The provisions of this section do not apply to a consent or settlement agreement between 
a regulatory body and a licensee that provides for the licensee to enter a diversionary program for 
the treatment of an alcohol or other substance use disorder. 

      (Added to NRS by 2003, 3417) 

 

 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 9

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-241.html#NRS241
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/72nd/Stats200327.html#Stats200327page3417


Agenda Item 5(d): 
Authorized Investigative Complaints – NRS 631.360

Public Book Board Meeting Page 10



      NRS 631.360  Investigation, notice and hearing; subpoena; search warrant; continuances; 
retention of complaints; regulations. [Effective January 1, 2020.] 

      1.  Except as otherwise provided in NRS 631.364, the Board may, upon its own motion, and 
shall, upon the verified complaint in writing of any person setting forth facts which, if proven, 
would constitute grounds for initiating disciplinary action, investigate the actions of any person 
who practices dentistry, dental hygiene or dental therapy in this State. A complaint may be filed 
anonymously. If a complaint is filed anonymously, the Board may accept the complaint but may 
refuse to consider the complaint if anonymity of the complainant makes processing the 
complaint impossible or unfair to the person who is the subject of the complaint. 

      2.  The Board shall, before initiating disciplinary action, at least 10 days before the date set 
for the hearing, notify the accused person in writing of any charges made. The notice may be 
served by delivery of it personally to the accused person or by mailing it by registered or 
certified mail to the place of business last specified by the accused person, as registered with the 
Board. 

      3.  At the time and place fixed in the notice, the Board shall proceed to hear the charges. If 
the Board receives a report pursuant to subsection 5 of NRS 228.420, a hearing must be held 
within 30 days after receiving the report. 

      4.  The Board may compel the attendance of witnesses or the production of documents or 
objects by subpoena. The Board may adopt regulations that set forth a procedure pursuant to 
which the Executive Director may issue subpoenas on behalf of the Board. Any person who is 
subpoenaed pursuant to this subsection may request the Board to modify the terms of the 
subpoena or grant additional time for compliance. 

      5.  The Board may obtain a search warrant from a magistrate upon a showing that the 
warrant is needed for an investigation or hearing being conducted by the Board and that 
reasonable cause exists to issue the warrant. 

      6.  If the Board is not sitting at the time and place fixed in the notice, or at the time and 
place to which the hearing has been continued, the Board shall continue the hearing for a period 
not to exceed 30 days. 

      7.  The Board shall retain all complaints received by the Board pursuant to this section for at 
least 10 years, including, without limitation, any complaints not acted upon. 

      [Part 11:152:1951] — (NRS A 1969, 95; 1981, 99; 1983, 1114; 1993, 784; 2007, 508; 2009, 
883; 2013, 2219; 2017, 4415, effective January 1, 2020) 

 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 11

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec364
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-228.html#NRS228Sec420
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/55th/Stats196901.html#Stats196901page95
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/61st/Stats198101.html#Stats198101page99
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/62nd/Stats198305.html#Stats198305page1114
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/67th/Stats199304.html#Stats199304page784
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/74th/Stats200705.html#Stats200705page508
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/75th2009/Stats200909.html#Stats200909page883
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/75th2009/Stats200909.html#Stats200909page883
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/77th2013/Stats201314.html#Stats201314page2219
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/79th2017/Stats201724.html#Stats201724page4415


Agenda Item 6(b): 
On April 19, 2022, the Governor Will Be Hosting the 

Governor’s Provider Summit Where We Will Be Hosting 
Our Own Table 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 12



Public Book Board Meeting Page 13



Public Book Board Meeting Page 14



Agenda Item 6(c): 
Discussion, Consideration, and Possible Action Regarding 

the Department of Health and Human Services’ 
Establishment of a Health Care Workforce Working 

Group  – SB 379 (2021)

Public Book Board Meeting Page 15



 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

Senate Bill No. 379–Committee on  
Health and Human Services 

 
CHAPTER.......... 

 
AN ACT relating to health care; requiring the Director of the 

Department of Health and Human Services to establish and 
maintain a database comprising information concerning 
providers of health care who are licensed, certified or 
registered in this State and develop an electronic data request 
to collect data for inclusion in the database; requiring or 
authorizing certain professional licensing boards and 
agencies that license, certify or register providers of health 
care to make the data request available to applicants to renew 
such licensure, certification or registration; establishing the 
Health Care Workforce Working Group within the 
Department to analyze the information in the database and 
perform certain related duties; and providing other matters 
properly relating thereto. 

Legislative Counsel’s Digest: 
 Existing law provides that the Department of Health and Human Services is the 
agency of the State of Nevada for health planning and development. (NRS 
439A.081) Section 5 of this bill requires the Director of the Department to establish 
and maintain a database comprising information collected from certain applicants 
for the renewal of a license, certificate or registration as a provider of health care. 
Section 5 requires that information to include certain demographic information and 
certain information about the applicant’s practice. Section 5 also requires the 
Director of the Department to develop and make available to licensing boards that 
license, certify or register providers of health care an electronic data request to 
obtain information for inclusion in the database. Sections 12, 14-16, 24, 30, 32 and 
33 of this bill require licensing boards that license, certify or register certain 
providers of health care to make the data request available to each applicant for the 
renewal of a license, certification or registration through a link on the electronic 
application form and request those applicants to submit the data request to the 
Director of the Department. Sections 9, 13, 17-20, 22, 23, 25-29, 35 and 36 of this 
bill authorize other licensing boards and governmental agencies that license or 
certify providers of health care to make the data request available to certain 
applicants and request those applicants to submit the data request to the Director of 
the Department upon the renewal of a license or certificate. Sections 9, 12-20, 22-
30, 32, 33, 35 and 36 of this bill provide that an applicant from whom data is 
requested is not required to complete the request. Sections 11, 21, 31 and 34 of this 
bill make conforming changes. 
 Section 6 of this bill requires the Director to establish the Health Care 
Workforce Working Group. Section 7 of this bill prescribes the duties of  
the Working Group, which include: (1) analyzing the information contained in the 
database; and (2) making recommendations to professional licensing boards, the 
Legislature and certain state agencies concerning ways in which to attract more 
providers of health care to this State and improve health outcomes and public 
health.  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 16



 
 – 2 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

 Section 5 of this bill requires the Director to annually publish data from the 
database that does not contain information that could be used to identify a provider 
of health care. Section 5 also: (1) requires the Director to provide such data to the 
Working Group; and (2) authorizes the Working Group to disclose or publish that 
data under certain circumstances. Sections 5, 9, 10, 12-20, 22-30, 32, 33, 35 and 36 
of this bill provide that information collected for submission to the database from 
providers of health care is otherwise confidential. Section 8 of this bill authorizes 
the Director to enter into contracts, apply for and accept gifts, grants and donations 
and adopt regulations to carry out the duties prescribed by this bill. 
 

EXPLANATION – Matter in bolded italics is new; matter between brackets [omitted material] is material to be omitted. 
 
 

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, REPRESENTED IN 
SENATE AND ASSEMBLY, DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS: 

 
 Section 1.  Chapter 439A of NRS is hereby amended by 
adding thereto the provisions set forth as sections 2 to 8, inclusive, 
of this act. 
 Sec. 2.  As used in sections 2 to 8, inclusive, of this act, unless 
the context otherwise requires, the words and terms defined in 
sections 3 and 4 of this act have the meanings ascribed to them in 
those sections. 
 Sec. 3.  “Provider of health care” has the meaning ascribed 
to it in NRS 629.031. 
 Sec. 4.  “Working Group” means the Healthcare Workforce 
Working Group established pursuant to section 6 of this act. 
 Sec. 5.  1.  The Director shall establish and maintain a 
database of information collected from applicants for the renewal 
of a license, certificate or registration as a provider of health care. 
The information in the database must include, for each applicant 
from whom such information is collected: 
 (a) The type of license, certificate or registration held by the 
applicant; 
 (b) The race and ethnicity of the applicant; 
 (c) The primary language spoken by the applicant;  
 (d) The specialty area in which the applicant practices; 
 (e) The county of this State in which the applicant spends the 
majority of his or her working hours; 
 (f) The address of each location at which the applicant 
practices or intends to practice and the percentage of working 
hours spent by the applicant at each location; 
 (g) The type of practice in which the applicant engages, 
including, without limitation, individual private practice, group 
private practice, multispecialty group private practice, government 
or nonprofit; 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 17



 
 – 3 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

 (h) The settings in which the applicant practices, including, 
without limitation, hospitals, clinics and academic settings; 
 (i) The education and primary and secondary specialties of the 
applicant; 
 (j) The average number of hours worked per week by the 
applicant and the total number of weeks worked by the applicant 
during the immediately preceding calendar year; 
 (k) The percentages of working hours during which the 
applicant engages in patient care and other activities, including, 
without limitation, teaching, research and administration; 
 (l) Any planned major changes to the practice of the applicant 
within the immediately following 5 years, including, without 
limitation, retirement, relocation or significant changes in 
working hours; and 
 (m) Any other information prescribed by regulation of the 
Director. 
 2.  The Director shall develop and make available to each 
professional licensing board that licenses, certifies or registers 
providers of health care an electronic data request that solicits the 
information described in subsection 1 from an applicant for the 
renewal of such a license, certificate or registration.  
 3.  Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, 
information included in the database is confidential and not a 
public record. The Director shall: 
 (a) Take all necessary measures to ensure the confidentiality 
of the identity of providers of health care to whom information in 
the database pertains, including, without limitation, measures to 
ensure that the identity of a provider of health care is not 
ascertainable due to his or her reported profession or the reported 
location at which he or she practices.  
 (b) Make data from the database that does not contain any 
information that could be used to identify an applicant for or the 
holder of a license, certificate or registration as a provider of 
health care available to the Working Group. The Working Group 
may use such data to support the recommendations made 
pursuant to section 7 of this act or include such data in any report 
published pursuant to that section. 
 (c) Publish an annual report of data from the database that 
does not contain any information that could be used to identify an 
applicant for or holder of a license, certificate or registration as a 
provider of health care. 
 (d) Analyze the data in the database and make periodic reports 
to the Legislature, the Department and other agencies of the 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 18



 
 – 4 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

Executive Branch of the State Government concerning ways in 
which to: 
  (1) Attract more persons, including, without limitation, 
members of underrepresented groups, to pursue the education 
necessary to practice as a provider of health care and practice as a 
provider of health care in this State; and 
  (2) Improve health outcomes and public health in this 
State. 
 Sec. 6.  1.  The Director shall establish the Health Care 
Workforce Working Group within the Department. The Director 
shall appoint to the Working Group providers of health care and 
representatives of: 
 (a) Groups that represent providers of health care and 
consumers of health care;  
 (b) The Nevada System of Higher Education, universities, state 
colleges, community colleges and other institutions in this State 
that train providers of health care; 
 (c) The Department of Health and Human Services; and 
 (d) Professional licensing boards that license, certify or 
register providers of health care. 
 2.  The Director shall appoint a Chair of the Working Group. 
The Working Group shall meet at the call of the Chair. A majority 
of the members of the Working Group constitutes a quorum and is 
required to transact any business of the Working Group. 
 3.  The members of the Working Group serve without 
compensation and are not entitled to receive the per diem 
allowance and travel expenses provided for state officers and 
employees generally. 
 4.  A member of the Working Group who is an officer or 
employee of this State or a political subdivision of this State must 
be relieved from his or her duties without loss of regular 
compensation to prepare for and attend meetings of the Working 
Group and perform any work necessary to carry out the duties of 
the Working Group in the most timely manner practicable. A state 
agency or political subdivision of this State shall not require an 
officer or employee who is a member of the Working Group to: 
 (a) Make up the time he or she is absent from work to carry 
out his or her duties as a member of the Working Group; or 
 (b) Take annual leave or compensatory time for the absence. 
 5.  The Department shall provide such administrative support 
to the Working Group as is necessary to carry out the duties of the 
Working Group. 
 Sec. 7.  1.  The Working Group shall: 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 19



 
 – 5 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

 (a) Make recommendations to the Director concerning the 
information included in the database pursuant to section 5 of this 
act; 
 (b) Analyze the information contained in the database; and 
 (c) Make recommendations to the Department of Health and 
Human Services, the Department of Education, the Board of 
Regents of the University of Nevada, the Legislature, professional 
licensing boards that license, certify or register providers of health 
care and other relevant persons and entities concerning ways in 
which to: 
  (1) Attract more persons, including, without limitation, 
members of underrepresented groups, to pursue the education 
necessary to practice as a provider of health care and practice as a 
provider of health care in this State; and 
  (2) Improve health outcomes and public health in this 
State. 
 2.  The working group may publish reports of any of its 
findings or recommendations. 
 Sec. 8.  1.  The Director may: 
 (a) Adopt any regulations necessary to carry out the provisions 
of sections 2 to 8, inclusive, of this act;  
 (b) Enter into any contracts or agreements necessary to carry 
out the provisions of sections 2 to 8, inclusive, of this act; and 
 (c) Apply for and accept any gifts, grants and donations to 
carry out the provisions of sections 2 to 8, inclusive, of this act. 
 2.  If the Director enters into a contract or agreement 
pursuant to this section for the establishment or maintenance of 
the database, the analysis of data or the issuance of reports 
pursuant to section 5 of this act, the contract must provide  
the Director with unrestricted access to any data maintained by the 
contracting entity and any analysis or reporting performed by the 
contracting entity. 
 Sec. 9.  Chapter 450B of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The health authority may: 
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license as an 
attendant or a certificate as an emergency medical technician, 
advanced emergency medical technician or paramedic through a 
link on the electronic application for the renewal of a license or 
certificate; and 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 20



 
 – 6 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director. 
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for a renewal of 
a license or certificate pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential 
and, except as required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to 
any person or entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license or certificate is 
not required to complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 
and is not subject to disciplinary action, including, without 
limitation, refusal to renew the license or certificate, for failure to 
do so. 
 Sec. 10.  NRS 239.010 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 239.010  1.  Except as otherwise provided in this section and 
NRS 1.4683, 1.4687, 1A.110, 3.2203, 41.071, 49.095, 49.293, 
62D.420, 62D.440, 62E.516, 62E.620, 62H.025, 62H.030, 62H.170, 
62H.220, 62H.320, 75A.100, 75A.150, 76.160, 78.152, 80.113, 
81.850, 82.183, 86.246, 86.54615, 87.515, 87.5413, 87A.200, 
87A.580, 87A.640, 88.3355, 88.5927, 88.6067, 88A.345, 88A.7345, 
89.045, 89.251, 90.730, 91.160, 116.757, 116A.270, 116B.880, 
118B.026, 119.260, 119.265, 119.267, 119.280, 119A.280, 
119A.653, 119A.677, 119B.370, 119B.382, 120A.690, 125.130, 
125B.140, 126.141, 126.161, 126.163, 126.730, 127.007, 127.057, 
127.130, 127.140, 127.2817, 128.090, 130.312, 130.712, 136.050, 
159.044, 159A.044, 172.075, 172.245, 176.01249, 176.015, 
176.0625, 176.09129, 176.156, 176A.630, 178.39801, 178.4715, 
178.5691, 179.495, 179A.070, 179A.165, 179D.160, 200.3771, 
200.3772, 200.5095, 200.604, 202.3662, 205.4651, 209.392, 
209.3923, 209.3925, 209.419, 209.429, 209.521, 211A.140, 
213.010, 213.040, 213.095, 213.131, 217.105, 217.110, 217.464, 
217.475, 218A.350, 218E.625, 218F.150, 218G.130, 218G.240, 
218G.350, 226.300, 228.270, 228.450, 228.495, 228.570, 231.069, 
231.1473, 233.190, 237.300, 239.0105, 239.0113, 239.014, 
239B.030, 239B.040, 239B.050, 239C.140, 239C.210, 239C.230, 
239C.250, 239C.270, 239C.420, 240.007, 241.020, 241.030, 
241.039, 242.105, 244.264, 244.335, 247.540, 247.550, 247.560, 
250.087, 250.130, 250.140, 250.150, 268.095, 268.0978, 268.490, 
268.910, 269.174, 271A.105, 281.195, 281.805, 281A.350, 
281A.680, 281A.685, 281A.750, 281A.755, 281A.780, 284.4068, 
286.110, 286.118, 287.0438, 289.025, 289.080, 289.387, 289.830, 
293.4855, 293.5002, 293.503, 293.504, 293.558, 293.5757, 293.870, 
293.906, 293.908, 293.910, 293B.135, 293D.510, 331.110, 332.061, 
332.351, 333.333, 333.335, 338.070, 338.1379, 338.1593, 338.1725, 
338.1727, 348.420, 349.597, 349.775, 353.205, 353A.049, 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 21



 
 – 7 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

353A.085, 353A.100, 353C.240, 360.240, 360.247, 360.255, 
360.755, 361.044, 361.2242, 361.610, 365.138, 366.160, 368A.180, 
370.257, 370.327, 372A.080, 378.290, 378.300, 379.0075, 379.008, 
379.1495, 385A.830, 385B.100, 387.626, 387.631, 388.1455, 
388.259, 388.501, 388.503, 388.513, 388.750, 388A.247, 388A.249, 
391.033, 391.035, 391.0365, 391.120, 391.925, 392.029, 392.147, 
392.264, 392.271, 392.315, 392.317, 392.325, 392.327, 392.335, 
392.850, 393.045, 394.167, 394.16975, 394.1698, 394.447, 394.460, 
394.465, 396.3295, 396.405, 396.525, 396.535, 396.9685, 
398A.115, 408.3885, 408.3886, 408.3888, 408.5484, 412.153, 
414.280, 416.070, 422.2749, 422.305, 422A.342, 422A.350, 
425.400, 427A.1236, 427A.872, 432.028, 432.205, 432B.175, 
432B.280, 432B.290, 432B.407, 432B.430, 432B.560, 432B.5902, 
432C.140, 432C.150, 433.534, 433A.360, 437.145, 437.207, 
439.4941, 439.840, 439.914, 439B.420, 439B.754, 439B.760, 
440.170, 441A.195, 441A.220, 441A.230, 442.330, 442.395, 
442.735, 442.774, 445A.665, 445B.570, 445B.7773, 447.345, 
449.209, 449.245, 449.4315, 449A.112, 450.140, 450B.188, 
453.164, 453.720, 453A.610, 453A.700, 458.055, 458.280, 459.050, 
459.3866, 459.555, 459.7056, 459.846, 463.120, 463.15993, 
463.240, 463.3403, 463.3407, 463.790, 467.1005, 480.535, 480.545, 
480.935, 480.940, 481.063, 481.091, 481.093, 482.170, 482.5536, 
483.340, 483.363, 483.575, 483.659, 483.800, 484A.469, 484E.070, 
485.316, 501.344, 503.452, 522.040, 534A.031, 561.285, 571.160, 
584.655, 587.877, 598.0964, 598.098, 598A.110, 599B.090, 
603.070, 603A.210, 604A.303, 604A.710, 612.265, 616B.012, 
616B.015, 616B.315, 616B.350, 618.341, 618.425, 622.238, 
622.310, 623.131, 623A.137, 624.110, 624.265, 624.327, 625.425, 
625A.185, 628.418, 628B.230, 628B.760, 629.047, 629.069, 
630.133, 630.2673, 630.30665, 630.336, 630A.555, 631.368, 
632.121, 632.125, 632.3415, 632.405, 633.283, 633.301, 633.4715, 
633.524, 634.055, 634.214, 634A.185, 635.158, 636.107, 637.085, 
637B.288, 638.087, 638.089, 639.2485, 639.570, 640.075, 
640A.220, 640B.730, 640C.580, 640C.600, 640C.620, 640C.745, 
640C.760, 640D.190, 640E.340, 641.090, 641.221, 641.325, 
641A.191, 641A.262, 641A.289, 641B.170, 641B.282, 641B.460, 
641C.760, 641C.800, 642.524, 643.189, 644A.870, 645.180, 
645.625, 645A.050, 645A.082, 645B.060, 645B.092, 645C.220, 
645C.225, 645D.130, 645D.135, 645G.510, 645H.320, 645H.330, 
647.0945, 647.0947, 648.033, 648.197, 649.065, 649.067, 652.228, 
653.900, 654.110, 656.105, 657A.510, 661.115, 665.130, 665.133, 
669.275, 669.285, 669A.310, 671.170, 673.450, 673.480, 675.380, 
676A.340, 676A.370, 677.243, 678A.470, 678C.710, 678C.800, 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 22



 
 – 8 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

679B.122, 679B.124, 679B.152, 679B.159, 679B.190, 679B.285, 
679B.690, 680A.270, 681A.440, 681B.260, 681B.410, 681B.540, 
683A.0873, 685A.077, 686A.289, 686B.170, 686C.306, 687A.110, 
687A.115, 687C.010, 688C.230, 688C.480, 688C.490, 689A.696, 
692A.117, 692C.190, 692C.3507, 692C.3536, 692C.3538, 
692C.354, 692C.420, 693A.480, 693A.615, 696B.550, 696C.120, 
703.196, 704B.325, 706.1725, 706A.230, 710.159, 711.600 [,] and 
sections 5, 9, 12 to 20, inclusive, 22 to 30, inclusive, 32, 33, 35 and 
36 of this act, sections 35, 38 and 41 of chapter 478, Statutes of 
Nevada 2011 and section 2 of chapter 391, Statutes of Nevada 2013 
and unless otherwise declared by law to be confidential, all public 
books and public records of a governmental entity must be open at 
all times during office hours to inspection by any person, and may 
be fully copied or an abstract or memorandum may be prepared 
from those public books and public records. Any such copies, 
abstracts or memoranda may be used to supply the general public 
with copies, abstracts or memoranda of the records or may be used 
in any other way to the advantage of the governmental entity or of 
the general public. This section does not supersede or in any manner 
affect the federal laws governing copyrights or enlarge, diminish or 
affect in any other manner the rights of a person in any written book 
or record which is copyrighted pursuant to federal law. 
 2.  A governmental entity may not reject a book or record 
which is copyrighted solely because it is copyrighted. 
 3.  A governmental entity that has legal custody or control of a 
public book or record shall not deny a request made pursuant to 
subsection 1 to inspect or copy or receive a copy of a public book or 
record on the basis that the requested public book or record contains 
information that is confidential if the governmental entity can 
redact, delete, conceal or separate, including, without limitation, 
electronically, the confidential information from the information 
included in the public book or record that is not otherwise 
confidential. 
 4.  If requested, a governmental entity shall provide a copy of a 
public record in an electronic format by means of an electronic 
medium. Nothing in this subsection requires a governmental entity 
to provide a copy of a public record in an electronic format or by 
means of an electronic medium if: 
 (a) The public record: 
  (1) Was not created or prepared in an electronic format; and 
  (2) Is not available in an electronic format; or 
 (b) Providing the public record in an electronic format or by 
means of an electronic medium would: 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 23



 
 – 9 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

  (1) Give access to proprietary software; or 
  (2) Require the production of information that is confidential 
and that cannot be redacted, deleted, concealed or separated from 
information that is not otherwise confidential. 
 5.  An officer, employee or agent of a governmental entity who 
has legal custody or control of a public record: 
 (a) Shall not refuse to provide a copy of that public record in the 
medium that is requested because the officer, employee or agent has 
already prepared or would prefer to provide the copy in a different 
medium. 
 (b) Except as otherwise provided in NRS 239.030, shall, upon 
request, prepare the copy of the public record and shall not require 
the person who has requested the copy to prepare the copy himself 
or herself. 
 Sec. 11.  NRS 437.060 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 437.060  The provisions of this chapter do not apply to: 
 1.  A physician who is licensed to practice in this State; 
 2.  A person who is licensed to practice dentistry in this State; 
 3.  A person who is licensed as a psychologist pursuant to 
chapter 641 of NRS; 
 4.  A person who is licensed as a marriage and family therapist 
or marriage and family therapist intern pursuant to chapter 641A of 
NRS; 
 5.  A person who is licensed as a clinical professional counselor 
or clinical professional counselor intern pursuant to chapter 641A of 
NRS; 
 6.  A person who is licensed to engage in social work pursuant 
to chapter 641B of NRS; 
 7.  A person who is licensed as an occupational therapist or 
occupational therapy assistant pursuant to NRS 640A.010 to 
640A.230, inclusive [;] , and section 26 of this act; 
 8.  A person who is licensed as a clinical alcohol and drug 
counselor, licensed or certified as an alcohol and drug counselor or 
certified as an alcohol and drug counselor intern, a clinical alcohol 
and drug counselor intern, a problem gambling counselor or a 
problem gambling counselor intern, pursuant to chapter 641C of 
NRS;  
 9.  Any member of the clergy; 
 10.  A family member of a recipient of applied behavior 
analysis services who performs activities as directed by a behavior 
analyst or assistant behavior analyst; or 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 24



 
 – 10 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

 11.  A person who provides applied behavior analysis services 
to a pupil in a public school in a manner consistent with the training 
and experience of the person,  
 if such a person does not commit an act described in NRS 
437.510 or represent himself or herself as a behavior analyst, 
assistant behavior analyst or registered behavior technician. 
 Sec. 12.  Chapter 630 of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board shall: 
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for a biennial registration 
pursuant to NRS 630.267 or the renewal of a license pursuant to 
this chapter through a link on the electronic application for a 
biennial registration or the renewal of a license; and 
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director. 
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for a biennial 
registration or the renewal of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is 
confidential and, except as required by subsection 1, must not be 
disclosed to any person or entity.  
 3.  An applicant for a biennial registration or the renewal of a 
license is not required to complete a data request pursuant to 
subsection 1 and is not subject to disciplinary action, including, 
without limitation, refusal to issue the biennial registration or 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 13.  Chapter 630A of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license or 
certificate pursuant to this chapter through a link on the 
electronic application for the renewal of a license or certificate; 
and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license or certificate pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential 
and, except as required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to 
any person or entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license or certificate is 
not required to complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 25



 
 – 11 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

and is not subject to disciplinary action, including, without 
limitation, refusal to renew the license or certificate, for failure to 
do so. 
 Sec. 14.  Chapter 631 of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board shall: 
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and 
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director. 
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity. 
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 15.  Chapter 632 of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board shall: 
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license or 
certificate pursuant to this chapter through a link on the 
electronic application for the renewal of a license or certificate; 
and 
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director. 
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license or certificate pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential 
and, except as required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to 
any person or entity. 
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license or certificate is 
not required to complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 
and is not subject to disciplinary action, including, without 
limitation, refusal to renew the license or certificate, for failure to 
do so. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 26



 
 – 12 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

 Sec. 16.  Chapter 633 of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board shall: 
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and 
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director. 
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity. 
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 17.  Chapter 634 of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may: 
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license or 
certificate pursuant to this chapter through a link on the 
electronic application for the renewal of a license or certificate; 
and 
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director. 
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license or certificate pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential 
and, except as required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to 
any person or entity. 
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license or certificate is 
not required to complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 
and is not subject to disciplinary action, including, without 
limitation, refusal to renew the license or certificate, for failure to 
do so. 
 Sec. 18.  Chapter 634A of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 27



 
 – 13 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity. 
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 19.  Chapter 635 of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 20.  Chapter 636 of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 28



 
 – 14 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 21.  NRS 636.250 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 636.250  A license issued under this chapter or any former law 
must be renewed pursuant to the provisions of NRS 636.250 to 
636.285, inclusive, and section 20 of this act before March 1 of 
each even-numbered year. 
 Sec. 22.  Chapter 637 of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 23.  Chapter 637B of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity.  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 29



 
 – 15 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 24.  Chapter 639 of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board shall: 
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of registration as 
a pharmacist, intern pharmacist, pharmaceutical technician or 
pharmaceutical technician in training through a link on the 
electronic application for the renewal of a registration; and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a registration pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, 
except as required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any 
person or entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a registration is not 
required to complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and 
is not subject to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, 
refusal to renew the registration, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 25.  Chapter 640 of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 30



 
 – 16 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

 Sec. 26.  Chapter 640A of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 27.  Chapter 640B of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 28.  Chapter 640D of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 31



 
 – 17 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 29.  Chapter 640E of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 30.  Chapter 641 of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board shall: 
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license or 
registration pursuant to this chapter through a link on the 
electronic application for the renewal of a license or registration; 
and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license or registration pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 32



 
 – 18 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

and, except as required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to 
any person or entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license or registration is 
not required to complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 
and is not subject to disciplinary action, including, without 
limitation, refusal to renew the license or registration, for failure 
to do so. 
 Sec. 31.  NRS 641.029 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 641.029  The provisions of this chapter do not apply to: 
 1.  A physician who is licensed to practice in this State; 
 2.  A person who is licensed to practice dentistry in this State; 
 3.  A person who is licensed as a marriage and family therapist 
or marriage and family therapist intern pursuant to chapter 641A of 
NRS; 
 4.  A person who is licensed as a clinical professional counselor 
or clinical professional counselor intern pursuant to chapter 641A of 
NRS; 
 5.  A person who is licensed to engage in social work pursuant 
to chapter 641B of NRS; 
 6.  A person who is licensed as an occupational therapist or 
occupational therapy assistant pursuant to NRS 640A.010 to 
640A.230, inclusive [;] , and section 26 of this act; 
 7.  A person who is licensed as a clinical alcohol and drug 
counselor, licensed or certified as an alcohol and drug counselor or 
certified as an alcohol and drug counselor intern, a clinical alcohol 
and drug counselor intern, a problem gambling counselor or a 
problem gambling counselor intern, pursuant to chapter 641C of 
NRS; 
 8.  A person who is licensed as a behavior analyst or an 
assistant behavior analyst or registered as a registered behavior 
technician pursuant to chapter 437 of NRS, while engaged in the 
practice of applied behavior analysis as defined in NRS 437.040; or 
 9.  Any member of the clergy, 
 if such a person does not commit an act described in NRS 
641.440 or represent himself or herself as a psychologist. 
 Sec. 32.  Chapter 641A of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board shall: 
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 33



 
 – 19 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 33.  Chapter 641B of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board shall: 
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license 
pursuant to this chapter through a link on the electronic 
application for the renewal of a license; and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential and, except as 
required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to any person or 
entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license is not required to 
complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 and is not subject 
to disciplinary action, including, without limitation, refusal to 
renew the license, for failure to do so. 
 Sec. 34.  NRS 641B.040 is hereby amended to read as follows: 
 641B.040  The provisions of this chapter do not apply to: 
 1.  A physician who is licensed to practice in this State; 
 2.  A nurse who is licensed to practice in this State; 
 3.  A person who is licensed as a psychologist pursuant to 
chapter 641 of NRS or authorized to practice psychology in this 
State pursuant to the Psychology Interjurisdictional Compact 
enacted in NRS 641.227; 
 4.  A person who is licensed as a marriage and family therapist 
or marriage and family therapist intern pursuant to chapter 641A of 
NRS; 
 5.  A person who is licensed as a clinical professional counselor 
or clinical professional counselor intern pursuant to chapter 641A of 
NRS; 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 34



 
 – 20 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

 6.  A person who is licensed as an occupational therapist or 
occupational therapy assistant pursuant to NRS 640A.010 to 
640A.230, inclusive [;] , and section 26 of this act; 
 7.  A person who is licensed as a clinical alcohol and drug 
counselor, licensed or certified as an alcohol and drug counselor, or 
certified as a clinical alcohol and drug counselor intern, an alcohol 
and drug counselor intern, a problem gambling counselor or a 
problem gambling counselor intern, pursuant to chapter 641C of 
NRS; 
 8.  Any member of the clergy; 
 9.  A county welfare director; 
 10.  Any person who may engage in social work or clinical 
social work in his or her regular governmental employment but does 
not hold himself or herself out to the public as a social worker; or 
 11.  A student of social work and any other person preparing for 
the profession of social work under the supervision of a qualified 
social worker in a training institution or facility recognized by the 
Board, unless the student or other person has been issued a 
provisional license pursuant to paragraph (b) of subsection 1 of NRS 
641B.275. Such a student must be designated by the title “student of 
social work” or “trainee in social work,” or any other title which 
clearly indicates the student’s training status. 
 Sec. 35.  Chapter 641C of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Board may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license or 
certificate pursuant to this chapter through a link on the 
electronic application for the renewal of a license or certificate; 
and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license or certificate pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential 
and, except as required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to 
any person or entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license or certificate is 
not required to complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 
and is not subject to disciplinary action, including, without 
limitation, refusal to renew the license or certificate, for failure to 
do so. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 35



 
 – 21 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

 Sec. 36.  Chapter 652 of NRS is hereby amended by adding 
thereto a new section to read as follows: 
 1.  The Division may:  
 (a) Make the data request developed by the Director of the 
Department of Health and Human Services pursuant to section 5 
of this act available to applicants for the renewal of a license or 
certification pursuant to this chapter through a link on the 
electronic application for the renewal of a license or certification; 
and  
 (b) Request each applicant to complete and electronically 
submit the data request to the Director.  
 2.  The information provided by an applicant for the renewal 
of a license or certification pursuant to subsection 1 is confidential 
and, except as required by subsection 1, must not be disclosed to 
any person or entity.  
 3.  An applicant for the renewal of a license or certification is 
not required to complete a data request pursuant to subsection 1 
and is not subject to disciplinary action, including, without 
limitation, refusal to renew the license or certification, for failure 
to do so. 
 Sec. 37.  1.  The Health Care Workforce Working Group 
established pursuant to section 6 of this act must hold its first 
meeting not later than October 1, 2021. 
 2.  The Board of Medical Examiners, the Board of Dental 
Examiners of Nevada, the State Board of Nursing, the State Board 
of Osteopathic Medicine, the State Board of Pharmacy, the Board of 
Psychological Examiners, the Board of Examiners for Marriage and 
Family Therapists and Clinical Professional Counselors and the 
Board of Examiners for Social Workers shall make the data request 
developed by the Director of the Department of Health and Human 
Services available as required by section 12, 14, 15, 16, 24, 30, 32 
or 33 of this act, as applicable, not later than July 1, 2022, or the 
date on which the Director of the Department of Health and Human 
Services notifies those boards that the data request has been 
developed. 
 Sec. 38.  The provisions of section 1 of NRS 218D.380 do not 
apply to any provision of this act which adds or revises a 
requirement to submit a report to the Legislature. 
 Sec. 39.  Notwithstanding the provisions of NRS 218D.430 and 
218D.435, a committee, other than the Assembly Standing 
Committee on Ways and Means and the Senate Standing Committee 
on Finance, may vote on this act before the expiration of the period 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 36



 
 – 22 – 
 

 

- 81st Session (2021) 

prescribed for the return of a fiscal note in NRS 218D.475. This 
section applies retroactively from and after March 22, 2021. 
 Sec. 40.  1.  This section becomes effective upon passage and 
approval. 
 2.  Sections 1 to 39, inclusive, of this act become effective: 
 (a) Upon passage and approval for the purpose of adopting any 
regulations and performing any other preparatory administrative 
tasks that are necessary to carry out the provisions of this act; and 
 (b) On July 1, 2021, for all other purposes. 

 
20 ~~~~~ 21

  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 37



From: Hardeep Sull
To: Michelle Krestyn
Subject: FW: Request from Nevada Division Health Care Financing and Policy
Date: Wednesday, March 30, 2022 12:12:07 PM

Please place on next board meeting
 
 
Hardeep Sull
Executive Director
Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners
2651 N. Green Valley Pkwy, Ste 104
Henderson, Nevada 89014
Hsull@dental.nv.gov
Office (702) 486-7044
Fax (702) 486-7046
 
CONFIDENTIAL or PRIVILEGED: This communication contains information intended only for the use
of the individuals to whom it is addressed and may contain information that is privileged,
confidential or exempt from other disclosure under applicable law. If you are not the intended
recipient, you are notified that any disclosure, printing copying, distribution or use of the contents is
prohibited. If you have received this in error, please notify the sendor immediately by telephone or
by returning it by reply email and then permanently deleting the communication from your system.
Thank you.
 

From: Antonina Capurro 
Sent: Wednesday, March 23, 2022 8:43 AM
To: Hardeep Sull <Hsull@dental.nv.gov>
Cc: Erin Lynch < ; Christina Trovato <
Subject: Request from Nevada Division Health Care Financing and Policy
 

Dear Executive Director Sull,

 

As you may know, Senate Bill 379 from the 2021 Legislative Session requires that
the Board of Dental Examiners and other licensing boards request licensees to
complete a data poll from the Department of Health and Human Services. Through
the Division of Health Care Financing and Policy (DHCFP), the Department is
developing an electronic survey tool that DHCFP will provide to all the relevant
licensing boards in the coming months. This data is essential to our state for
recruitment and retention of healthcare providers, leveraging state and federal
resources to address critical shortage areas, and workforce planning and
development.

Public Book Board Meeting Page 38

mailto:Hsull@dental.nv.gov
mailto:mkrestyn@dental.nv.gov
mailto:Hsull@dental.nv.gov


 

Senate Bill 379 also requires DHHS to establish the Health Care Workforce Working
Group, to include representatives from health care providers and consumers,
institutions that train health care providers, and licensing boards. The Working
Group will meet at least bi-annually and will be responsible for analyzing workforce
data, guiding reports, and providing recommendations to state officials, policymakers,
and interested stakeholders. We are reaching out to identified licensing boards to
determine their interest in serving on this Working Group. 

 

If a representative from your Board is willing and available to be a part of the Working
Group, please send an email to Christina Trovato  to indicate
your interest and provide appropriate contact information for follow-up. 

 

Additionally, DHCFP is working with the Nevada Primary Care Office to identify how
the Governor's Emergency Directive and Medicaid enrollment flexibilities will affect
Nevada's workforce when the public health emergency is lifted. If your Board has
exercised the waiver of licensing provision, please let us know, and our team will be in
touch for further details. 

 

Your participation would be greatly appreciated.

 

Best regards,

Antonina Capurro, D.M.D, M.P.H, M.B.A 
Deputy Administrator  
Nevada Department of Health and Human Services 
Division Health Care Financing and Policy – Policy and Programs 

1210 S Valley View Blvd, Las Vegas, NV 89102
www.dhhs.nv.gov and https://dhcfp.nv.gov      
 

 
Helping People.  It’s who we are and what we do.
 
Find help 24/7 by dialing 2-1-1; texting 898-211; or visiting www.nevada211.org

Public Book Board Meeting Page 39

http://www.dhhs.nv.gov/
https://dhcfp.nv.gov/
https://nam11.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.nevada211.org%2F&data=04%7C01%7CJennifer.Rockhill%40acadiahealthcare.com%7Cb99bde73ad9b438a611008d9dabd86d0%7C707e881691534841b8eb17b974748957%7C0%7C0%7C637781331601244981%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0&sdata=If%2BoexSBW1bTslMMvPjRmdtz9PDOw5%2Fwj0RGUmUg7jg%3D&reserved=0


 
NOTICE:  This message and accompanying documents are covered by the electronic Communications Privacy Act, 18 U.S.C. §§ 2510-

2521, may be covered by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996 and may contain confidential
information or Protected Health Information intended for the specified individual(s) only. If you are not the intended recipient or an agent
responsible for delivering it to the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that you have received this document in error and that any
review, dissemination, copying, or the taking of any action based on the contents of this information is strictly prohibited. Violations may
result in administrative, civil, or criminal penalties. If you have received this communication in error, please notify sender immediately
by e-mail, and delete the message.

 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 40



Agenda Item 6(f): 
Discussion, Consideration, and Possible Approval/

Rejection of the Anesthesia Committee’s 
Recommendation Regarding the Hiring of the Following 
as Part-Time On-Site Evaluator/Inspector Employees – 

NRS 631.190 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 41



    NRS 631.190  Powers and duties. [Effective January 1, 2020.]  In addition to the powers 
and duties provided in this chapter, the Board shall: 

      1.  Adopt rules and regulations necessary to carry out the provisions of this chapter. 

      2.  Appoint such committees, review panels, examiners, officers, employees, agents, 
attorneys, investigators and other professional consultants and define their duties and incur such 
expense as it may deem proper or necessary to carry out the provisions of this chapter, the 
expense to be paid as provided in this chapter. 

      3.  Fix the time and place for and conduct examinations for the granting of licenses to 
practice dentistry, dental hygiene and dental therapy. 

      4.  Examine applicants for licenses to practice dentistry, dental hygiene and dental therapy. 

      5.  Collect and apply fees as provided in this chapter. 

      6.  Keep a register of all dentists, dental hygienists and dental therapists licensed in this 
State, together with their addresses, license numbers and renewal certificate numbers. 

      7.  Have and use a common seal. 

      8.  Keep such records as may be necessary to report the acts and proceedings of the Board. 
Except as otherwise provided in NRS 631.368, the records must be open to public inspection. 

      9.  Maintain offices in as many localities in the State as it finds necessary to carry out the 
provisions of this chapter. 

      10.  Have discretion to examine work authorizations in dental offices or dental laboratories. 

      [Part 4:152:1951; A 1953, 363] — (NRS A 1963, 150; 1967, 865; 1993, 2743; 2009, 3002; 
2017, 989, 2848; 2019, 3205, effective January 1, 2020) 

 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 42

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/nrs/nrs-631.html#NRS631Sec368
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/46th1953/Stats195302.html#Stats195302page363
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/52nd1963/Stats196301.html#Stats196301page150
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/54th/Stats196705.html#Stats196705page865
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/67th/Stats199313.html#Stats199313page2743
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/75th2009/Stats200929.html#Stats200929page3002
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/79th2017/Stats201706.html#Stats201706page989
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/79th2017/Stats201716.html#Stats201716page2848
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/Statutes/80th2019/Stats201919.html#Stats201919page3205


Agenda Item 6(g): 
Approval/Rejection of Temporary Anesthesia Permit – 

NAC 631.2254 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 43



NAC 631.2254  Temporary permits. (NRS 631.190, 631.265) 

     1.  The Board may grant a temporary permit to administer general anesthesia and deep 
sedation or a temporary permit to administer moderate sedation to an applicant who meets the 
qualifications for a permit to administer that type of anesthesia or sedation pursuant to NAC 
631.2213. 

     2.  A temporary permit is valid for not more than 90 days, but the Board may, in any case it 
deems appropriate, grant a 90-day extension of the permit. 

     3.  The Board may require the holder of a temporary permit to pass an on-site inspection as a 
condition of retaining the permit. If the holder fails the inspection, his or her permit will be 
revoked. In case of revocation, the holder of a temporary permit may apply to be reinspected in 
accordance with the procedures set forth in NAC 631.2235. 

     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, eff. 11-28-90; A by R005-99, 9-7-2000; R004-17, 
5-16-2018) 

 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 44

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec265
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2213
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2213
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2235


Agenda Item 6(h): 
Approval/Rejection of Permanent Anesthesia Permit – 

NAC 631.2235  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 45



NAC 631.2235  Inspections and evaluations: Grading; report of recommendation of evaluator; 
issuance of permit for passing; failure to pass; request for reevaluation; issuance of order for 
summary suspension. (NRS 631.190, 631.265) 

     1.  The persons performing an inspection or evaluation of a dentist and his or her office for 
the issuance or renewal of a general anesthesia permit or moderate sedation permit shall grade 
the dentist as passing or failing to meet the requirements set forth in NAC 631.2219 to 631.2231, 
inclusive. Within 72 hours after completing the inspection or evaluation, each evaluator shall 
report his or her recommendation for passing or failing to the Executive Director, setting forth 
the details supporting his or her conclusion. 

     2.  If the dentist meets the requirements set forth in NAC 631.2219 to 631.2231, inclusive, 
the Board will issue the general anesthesia permit or moderate sedation permit, as applicable. 

     3.  If the dentist does not meet the requirements set forth in NAC 631.2219 to 631.2231, 
inclusive, the Executive Director shall issue a written notice to the dentist that identifies the 
reasons he or she failed the inspection or evaluation. 

     4.  A dentist who has received a notice of failure from the Board pursuant to subsection 3: 

     (a) Must cease the administration of any general anesthesia, deep sedation or moderate 
sedation until the dentist has obtained the general anesthesia permit or moderate sedation permit, 
as applicable; and 

     (b) May, within 15 days after receiving the notice, request the Board in writing for a 
reevaluation. The request for a reevaluation must state specific grounds supporting it. 

     5.  If the reevaluation is granted by the Board, it will be conducted by different persons in 
the manner set forth by NAC 631.2219 to 631.2231, inclusive, for an original evaluation. 

     6.  No dentist who has received a notice of failing an inspection or evaluation from the 
Board may request more than one reevaluation within any period of 12 months. 

     7.  Pursuant to subsection 3 of NRS 233B.127, if an inspection or evaluation of a dentist or 
his or her office indicates that the public health, safety or welfare imperatively requires 
emergency action, the President of the Board may, without any further action by the Board, issue 
an order of summary suspension of the license of the dentist pending proceedings for revocation 
or other action. An order of summary suspension issued by the President of the Board must 
contain findings of the exigent circumstances which warrant the issuance of the order of 
summary suspension. The President of the Board shall not participate in any further proceedings 
relating to the order. 

     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, eff. 10-21-83; A by R005-99, 9-7-2000; R004-17, 
5-16-2018) 

 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 46

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec265
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2219
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2231
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2219
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2231
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2219
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2231
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2219
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2231
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-233B.html#NRS233BSec127


Agenda Item 6(i): 
Approval/Rejection of 90-Day Extension of Temporary 

Anesthesia Permit – NAC 631.2254(2) 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 47



NAC 631.2254  Temporary permits. (NRS 631.190, 631.265) 

     1.  The Board may grant a temporary permit to administer general anesthesia and deep 
sedation or a temporary permit to administer moderate sedation to an applicant who meets the 
qualifications for a permit to administer that type of anesthesia or sedation pursuant to NAC 
631.2213. 

     2.  A temporary permit is valid for not more than 90 days, but the Board may, in any case it 
deems appropriate, grant a 90-day extension of the permit. 

     3.  The Board may require the holder of a temporary permit to pass an on-site inspection as a 
condition of retaining the permit. If the holder fails the inspection, his or her permit will be 
revoked. In case of revocation, the holder of a temporary permit may apply to be reinspected in 
accordance with the procedures set forth in NAC 631.2235. 

     (Added to NAC by Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, eff. 11-28-90; A by R005-99, 9-7-2000; R004-17, 
5-16-2018) 

 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 48

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec265
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2213
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2213
https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NAC/NAC-631.html#NAC631Sec2235


Agenda Item 6(j): 
Approval of Revised Complaint Form 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 49



     NAC 631.240  Complaints against licensees. (NRS 631.190) 

     1.  Any aggrieved person may file a complaint with the Board against a licensee. The 

complaint must: 

     (a) Be written; 

     (b) Be signed and verified by the complainant; and 

     (c) Contain specific charges. 

     2.  The Board will send a notice and a copy of the complaint to the licensee. The licensee 

must file a response to the complaint within 15 days after receiving the notice and copy of the 

complaint. 

     [Bd. of Dental Exam’rs, § XVII, eff. 7-21-82] — (NAC A 4-3-89) 

 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 50

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/NRS/NRS-631.html#NRS631Sec190


 

Nevada State Board of  
Dental Examiners 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

State of Nevada 
Governor’s Office of Finance 

Division of Internal Audits 
 

Audit Report 

DIA Report No. 19-04 
June 25, 2019 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 51



 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 52



 

i 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Nevada State Board  
of Dental Examiners 

 
Introduction ........................................................................................................................ page 1 
 

Objective:  Enhance Dental Board Operations 
 
Strengthen Oversight of Investigative and Enforcement Activities .............................. page 2 
 
Strengthening oversight of investigative and enforcement activities will help ensure the health, safety, 
and welfare of the public are protected and Board activities are transparent and impartial.  Board 
oversight is lacking for some Disciplinary Screening Officer (DSO) Coordinator decisions and some 
duties conflict with other responsibilities.  The Executive Director is authorized to conduct compliance 
monitoring, which may not be in the best interest of the public.  Moreover, the Executive Director 
assigns the majority of investigations to a limited pool of DSOs. 
 
Consult with the Commission on Ethics to Avoid Conflicts of Interest ..................... page 10 
 
Avoiding conflicts of interest in actuality and in appearance will help increase transparency and ensure 
the separation of private and public interests for the protection and benefit of the public.  Avoiding 
conflicts of interest will require the Board to consult with the Nevada Commission on Ethics to 
determine Board compliance with Ethics Law.  Three Board members, the DSO Coordinator, and 
some DSOs may have violated Ethics Law.  Potential violations include:  not separating private and 
public interests, using Board positions for personal gain, improperly voting on Board matters, and 
using Board positions for private opportunities immediately following Board service. 
 
Comply with State Contracting Requirements .............................................................. page 15 
 
Complying with state contracting requirements will help ensure transparency in Board operations, 
protect the interests of the state, and reduce liability and costs to the state.  Compliance will require 
the Board to consult with the Office of the Attorney General and the Purchasing Division to determine 
contracting procedures appropriate for Board operations.  NAC requires: services of an independent 
contractor to be awarded pursuant to NRS 333 and NAC 333; contracts to conform to the form, terms, 
and conditions prescribed by the OAG; and contracts to include any insurance provisions required by 
the state Risk Manager.  The Board procures professional services to support the Board’s investigative 
and enforcement process but does not enter into written contracts for the services as required by NRS.  
The Board provides general liability insurance coverage to professional service providers and 
reimburses costs not provided for in a written contract.  These practices and the nature of the services 
provided to the Board increase liability and costs to the state. 
 
Comply with the Nevada Administrative Procedure Act (APA) ................................... page 23 
 
Complying with the APA to increase transparency in Board rulemaking and rules of practice will ensure 
Board regulations are evaluated through the public rulemaking process and are consistent with 
statutory authority and legislative intent.  Complying with the APA will also help ensure adopted rules 
of practice are clearly defined and are implemented through formal administrative procedures with 
Board oversight and public disclosure.  Some Board procedures apply to the public in general or to all 
licensees and affect the private rights or procedures available to the public.  These procedures have 
not been formally adopted by the Board as regulation or defined in the DPA.  Changes to the Board’s 
rules of practice were implemented without public notice or Board adoption at a public meeting. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 53



 

ii 

  

 
Appendix A ............................................................................................................................ page 27 
Scope and Methodology, Background, Acknowledgments 
 
Appendix B ............................................................................................................................ page 30 
Response and Implementation Plan 
 
Appendix C ............................................................................................................................ page 68 
Timetable for Implementing Audit Recommendations 
 
Appendix D ............................................................................................................................ page 69 
Discussion on the Investigative and Enforcement Process for the Nevada State Board of Dental 
Examiners 
 

 
 
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 54



 

1 of 73 
 

 

 
INTRODUCTION 

 
 
At the direction of the Executive Branch Audit Committee, the Division of Internal 
Audits conducted an audit of the Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners.  Our 
audit focused on the Board’s investigative, enforcement, and regulatory 
processes. The audit’s scope and methodology, background, and 
acknowledgements are included in Appendix A. 
 
Our audit objective was to develop recommendations to:  
 
 Enhance Dental Board operations. 

 
 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners 
Response and Implementation Plan 

 
We provided draft copies of this report to the Nevada State Board of Dental 
Examiners (Board) for its review and comments.  The Board’s comments have 
been considered in the preparation of this report and are included in Appendix B.  
In its response, the Board accepted our recommendations.  Appendix C includes 
a timetable to implement our recommendations. 
 
NRS 353A.090 requires within six months after the final report is issued to the 
Executive Branch Audit Committee, the Administrator of the Division of Internal 
Audits shall evaluate the steps the Board has taken to implement the 
recommendations and shall determine whether the steps are achieving the desired 
results.  The administrator shall report the six month follow-up results to the 
committee and the Board officials. 
 
The following report (DIA Report No. 19-04) contains our findings, conclusions, 
and recommendations.   

Public Book Board Meeting Page 55



 

2 of 73 

Enhance Dental Board Operations 
 
The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners (Board) can enhance operations by: 
 

• Strengthening oversight of investigative and enforcement activities; 
• Consulting with the Commission on Ethics to avoid conflicts of interest;  
• Complying with state contracting requirements; and 
• Complying with the Nevada Administrative Procedure Act (APA). 

 
Enhancing operations will help increase transparency in Board processes and 
activities; ensure the health, safety, and welfare of the public; and protect the 
state’s interest by reducing liability and costs.  
 
 
Strengthen Oversight of Investigative and Enforcement Activities  
 
The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners (Board) should strengthen oversight 
of investigative and enforcement activities.1  Strengthened oversight will help 
ensure the health, safety, and welfare of the public are protected, and Board 
activities are transparent.   
 
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 622.080 requires regulatory bodies to carry out 
and enforce governing provisions for the protection and benefit of the public.  
Likewise, the Nevada Office of the Attorney General’s (OAG) guidance to boards 
and commissions specifies, “The interest in safeguarding public health, safety, and 
welfare is the primary purpose of a board or commission and the basis of its 
existence.”2 
 
The Board has established investigative and enforcement policies and practices 
that require enhanced oversight, clarification, and change in duties assigned to the 
Executive Director and appointees.  A detailed discussion of the Board’s 
investigative and enforcement process is included in Appendix D. 
 
  

                                            
1 Investigations for purposes of our analysis include verified complaints and Board authorized investigations. 
2 State of Nevada.  Nevada Board and Commission Manual.  Carson City, Nevada: Office of the Attorney 
General, 2015. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 56



 

3 of 73 

Board Oversight Lacking For  
DSO Coordinator Decisions 
 
Board oversight is lacking for some Disciplinary Screening Officer (DSO) 
Coordinator decisions related to investigation of potentially actionable Dental 
Practice Act (DPA) violations and complaint dispositions.3,4  Lack of Board 
oversight may allow one individual to make or heavily influence decisions affecting 
the health, safety, and welfare of the public and licensees’ livelihoods without 
independent review.5   
 
Complainants Not Allowed to 
Verify Complaints 
 
The Board should strengthen oversight of investigative and enforcement activities 
by allowing all complainants to verify complaints prior to conducting preliminary or 
formal complaint investigations and by incorporating preliminary complaint 
investigations into the DSO/review panel process.6  Strengthening oversight will 
help ensure complainants can exercise their statutory right to file complaints 
against licensees and complaints are investigated to protect the health, safety, and 
welfare of the public.  Changing the complaint verification process to comply with 
statute will require preliminary complaint investigations to be conducted by DSOs, 
not the DSO Coordinator. 
 
Board Practice for Verified Complaints 
May Violate NRS and NAC 
 
The Board’s practice of the DSO Coordinator reviewing complaints prior to 
verification and initiating a formal investigation may violate NRS and Nevada 
Administrative Code (NAC).  NRS 631 and NAC 631 do not grant the Board or its 
appointees authority to dismiss complaints prior to allowing complainants to verify 
their complaints.   
 
NAC 631.240 provides that any aggrieved person may file a complaint with the 
Board against a licensee.  The complaint must be written, signed, and verified by 
the complainant and contain specific charges.  NRS 631.360 requires the Board 
to investigate verified complaints containing matters that if proven would constitute 
grounds for initiating disciplinary action. 
 
  

                                            
3 A Disciplinary Screening Officer is a licensee appointed by the Board to conduct investigations or evaluations. 
4 NRS 631 and NAC 631 constitute the Board’s authorizing statutes and regulations collectively referred to as 
the Dental Practice Act. 
5 Licensees include dentists, dental hygienists, and dental specialty practitioners. 
6 A verified complaint is a notarized sworn statement by the complainant swearing to certain conditions 
including complaint confidentiality and the contents of the complaint. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 57



 

4 of 73 

DSO Coordinator Has Broad Authority 
Over Complaint Dispositions 
 
The Board created the DSO Coordinator position in 2004 and assigned broad 
authority over complaint disposition to the position.  The same individual has 
served in the position since 2007.  The DSO Coordinator performs limited 
investigative activities, yet makes decisions that affect complaint disposition prior 
to allowing complainants to verify their complaints.   
 
The DSO Coordinator conducts preliminary complaint investigations for almost all 
complaints prior to initiating a formal investigation.7  The DSO Coordinator 
determines whether the Board has jurisdiction and if potentially actionable matters 
exist under the DPA.  The Board requires complainants to submit a notarized 
verification of their complaint and a records release form if the DSO Coordinator 
determines the complaint criteria exist.  The DSO/review panel investigative 
process begins after the Board receives these documents.   
 
Complainants are notified in writing that the Board has declined a complaint if the 
DSO Coordinator determines the complaint criteria do not exist.  If the complaint 
is dismissed, no further Board action is taken and complainants are not allowed to 
verify their complaints.  Consequently, the DSO Coordinator has sole authority to 
dismiss complaints prior to complainant verification and without further review 
based on the results of his preliminary complaint investigation.  This process 
restricts complainants’ right to a Board investigation provided by the DPA and may 
not protect the health, safety, and welfare of the public.   
 
Potentially Actionable Complaints 
Dismissed by DSO Coordinator 
 
We reviewed data for all complaints received during calendar years 2016 through 
2018.  The DSO Coordinator dismissed 44 percent of all complaints received by 
the Board during this period without independent review or further investigation.  
Of the dismissed complaints, 19 percent were related to potentially actionable 
matters.  Some complaint data did not indicate Board responses to complaints, 
reasons complaints were dismissed, or explanations of why complaints did not 
progress to full investigation. 
 
  

                                            
7 Excludes controlled substance complaints reviewed by the Executive Director pursuant to NRS 631.364. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 58



 

5 of 73 

Additionally, determinations for complaint dismissals were not always consistent 
across complaints.  For example, some complaints containing potentially 
actionable matters were dismissed because they also contained allegations of 
matters outside the Board’s jurisdiction, such as fee disputes.  Other complaints 
with similar potentially actionable matters and no fee disputes were moved forward 
to verification and/or investigation.  This inconsistency indicates that at least some 
complaints dismissed by the DSO Coordinator should have been investigated.  We 
did not find, however, any apparent bias or preferential treatment in decisions only 
that there were inconsistencies in the decisions. 
 
DSO Coordinator Duties 
Conflict with Other Responsibilities  
 
Some DSO Coordinator duties conflict with other responsibilities.  The DSO 
Coordinator acts as both an investigator and as a review panel member.  
Moreover, the DSO Coordinator has conducted preliminary complaint 
investigations for complaints filed against his employer.  These conflicts may 
prevent complainants and licensees from receiving an independent and impartial 
review process. 
 
DSO Coordinator Acts as Investigator 
And Review Panel Member 
 
The DSO Coordinator reviews all non-hygienist DSO investigative findings and 
recommendations as a member of the review panel.  The DSO Coordinator 
reviews matters he already determined were potentially actionable under DPA 
during preliminary complaint investigation.  His actions compromise the Board’s 
independent review process and violate NRS.  NRS 631.3635(3) requires 
investigators who conduct investigations or formal hearings to refrain from 
participating in the review panel. 
 
DSO Coordinator Reviewed  
Complaints against Employer 
 
We reviewed data for all complaints received during calendar years 2016 through 
2018.  The DSO Coordinator conducted preliminary complaint investigations for 
five complaints filed against the UNLV School of Dental Medicine, where he is 
employed full-time as a member of both faculty and administration.   
 
Although documented reasons for the complaint dispositions appear reasonable, 
allowing the DSO Coordinator to conduct preliminary complaint investigations for 
these complaints present the appearance of a conflict of interest with his role at 
the School of Dental Medicine.  NRS 281A.020 requires public employees to avoid 
conflicts of interest by properly separating private interests from public duties.   
 
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 59



 

6 of 73 

Executive Director Duties May  
Not Be in the Best Interest of the Public 
 
The Executive Director is responsible for licensee compliance monitoring 
according to Board stipulation agreements, which may not be in the best interest 
of the public.  The Board should require licensee compliance monitoring to be 
conducted by DSOs instead of at the discretion of the Executive Director.  This will 
help ensure that licensees under investigation are reviewed by an individual 
qualified to perform investigations through an independent and transparent 
process. 
 
Moreover, the Board should strengthen oversight of investigative and enforcement 
activities by conducting compliance monitoring noted in stipulation agreements 
meant to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the public.   
 
Board Practices Conflict with OAG Guidance  
and Could Expose Board to Liability 
 
The Executive Director’s ability to conduct licensee compliance monitoring 
requires professional judgement and has the potential to affect the livelihood of 
licensees subject to Board enforcement actions.  The Executive Director does not 
have the education or experience that qualifies her to exercise professional 
judgement in these areas.  Professional judgement can be most practically 
provided by independent licensed investigators or DSOs licensed under NRS 631. 
 
The Executive Director did not provide evidence of education, certification, or other 
training that would attest to qualifications to understand, evaluate, and make 
judgments on licensee compliance monitoring.  However, NRS 622.220 requires 
an executive director employed by regulatory bodies to possess a level of 
education or experience or combination of both to qualify them to perform the 
administrative and managerial tasks required of the position.   
 
Moreover, the Nevada Board and Commission Manual issued by the OAG warns 
“[t]o the extent that a function involves fundamental policy of the board or 
commission, requires exercise of judgment and discretion, or substantially affects 
an individual’s legal rights, it should not be delegated to the executive director or 
executive secretary.  If the executive director or executive secretary nevertheless 
improperly performs a function such as revoking a license, the board or 
commission may be subject to liability.”   
 
Allowing the Executive Director to conduct licensee compliance monitoring goes 
against the OAG warning and opens the Board to potential liability because the 
Executive Director is not qualified to perform compliance monitoring. 
 
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 60



 

7 of 73 

Compliance Monitoring 
Not Being Performed 
 
The Board must investigate and resolve verified complaints.  The Executive 
Director or her appointee is authorized to monitor stipulation agreements requiring 
licensee compliance monitoring.  The Executive Director reports she delegates to 
DSOs responsibility for compliance monitoring of licensees required to maintain 
daily logs evidencing corrective action implementation.  However, the Board further 
reports that they are unable to conduct any compliance monitoring because of staff 
shortages.  As a result, the Board may not be fulfilling its responsibility to protect 
the health, safety, and welfare of the public. 
 
Qualified Dentists May Not Have 
Equal Opportunity to Provide Services 
 
The Board should strengthen oversight of investigative and enforcement activities 
by increasing its pool of general dentistry DSOs in southern Nevada to provide a 
greater number of qualified dentists with equal opportunity to provide services to 
the Board.  Increasing the pool of DSOs will also help avoid the appearance of 
favoritism in the assignment of investigations to DSOs. 
 
Executive Director Assigned Majority of  
Investigations to Limited Pool of DSOs 
 
The Board delegated to the Executive Director the duty to assign investigations to 
DSOs from a list approved by the Board each calendar year.  The Executive 
Director assigned the majority of investigations to a limited pool of DSOs during 
the period reviewed.  The Executive Director reports she assigns investigations to 
DSOs based on licensee specialty, geographic area of the affected patient, DSO 
experience, and DSO caseload. 
 
The majority of complaints the Board receives relate to general dentistry and 
originate in southern Nevada, where the DSO general dentistry pool is limited to 
five DSOs.  Limiting the DSO pool gives the appearance of favoritism in the 
assignment of investigations and does not provide qualified dentists in the area 
with equal opportunity to provide services to the Board.     
   
Data for investigations conducted during calendar years 2016 through 2018 
revealed that the Executive Director assigned 64 percent of all verified complaints 
to four (11 percent) of 36 DSOs appointed during the period.  The four DSOs were 
assigned 56 percent of complaints and received 55 percent of all payments to 
DSOs in fiscal year 2018. 
 
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 61



 

8 of 73 

No Apparent Preferential Treatment 
For Dental Association Members 
 
This audit request was based, in part, on public comment presented before several 
state Board of Examiners meetings and the Executive Branch Audit Committee in 
2018.  We analyzed Board data for all complaints received during calendar years 
2016 through 2018 to determine whether there was preferential treatment in 
complaint dispositions for licensees who were also members of a Nevada 
professional dental association.   
 
Our analysis revealed on average, percentages of Board actions against 
association members and non-members were proportional within 5 percent.  It 
does not appear that there was preferential treatment in Board actions for dental 
association members.  Exhibit I summarizes Board actions against dental 
association members versus non-members. 
 
Exhibit I 

Board Actions 
Dental Association Members vs. Non-Members 

Attribute Tested Members  Non-Members 

Nevada dental licensees 876 
 

1,347 
    
% of total licensees 39%  61% 
% of Board actions 35%  65% 

Difference   4%   -4% 
    

% of all complaints 35%  65% 
% of Board actions 35%  65% 

Difference   0%    0% 
    
% of investigated complaints 38%  62% 
% of Board actions 35%  65% 

Difference   3%   -3% 
Source: Board compiled licensee, complaint, and investigation data. 

 
 
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 62



 

9 of 73 

Conclusion 
 
Board oversight is lacking for DSO Coordinator decisions that may restrict the 
rights of complainants and licensees.  The DSO Coordinator’s duties may conflict 
with other duties and some Executive Director duties may not be in the best interest 
of the public.  Moreover, certain DSOs are being assigned the majority of complaint 
investigations by the Executive Director.   
 
Strengthening oversight of investigative and enforcement activities will help ensure 
the health, safety, and welfare of the public are protected, and Board activities are 
transparent. 
 
 
Recommendation 
 

1. Strengthen oversight of investigative and enforcement activities.  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 63



 

10 of 73 

Consult with Commission on Ethics to Avoid Conflicts of Interest 
 
The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners (Board) should avoid conflicts of 
interest in actuality and in appearance to increase transparency and ensure the 
separation of private and public interests for the protection and benefit of the 
public.8  Avoiding conflicts of interest will require the Board to consult with the 
Nevada Commission on Ethics (Commission) to determine Board compliance with 
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 281A, referred to as Ethics Law.9   
 
NRS Requires Public Office to Be Held 
for Sole Benefit of the Public 
 
Board members may not be using their public office for the sole benefit of the 
public, which reduces transparency in Board activities and may reduce the public’s 
confidence in the integrity and impartiality of Board operations. 
 
NRS 281A.020 provides it is the state’s policy that public office is a public trust and 
held for the sole benefit of the people.  The Commission interprets this to mean 
that “care must be taken by public officers/employees to comply with…[the] 
provisions [of NRS 281A] and maintain the integrity of public service by avoiding 
actual conflicts or even the appearance of impropriety by properly separating 
private interests from public duties.”10  
 
Three Board Members May Have 
Violated Ethics Law 
 
Three Board members may have violated Ethics Law during calendar years 2015 
through 2019 by participating in Board matters or other activities that could be 
interpreted as unethical according to statute.  These three Board members may 
not have separated private and public interests as required by NRS, which reduces 
transparency in government and is contrary to the Board’s responsibility to carry 
out its duties for the protection and benefit of the public.   
 
NRS 281A.400 prohibits public officers and employees from seeking or accepting 
any gift, service, favor, employment, engagement, emolument, or economic 
opportunity for themselves or any person to whom they have a commitment in a 
private capacity, which would tend to improperly influence a reasonable person in 
their position to depart from the faithful and impartial discharge of their duties.  
Exhibit II summarizes potential Ethics Law violations by Board member. 
 
 
  
                                            
8 The terms “public officer” and “public employee” have meanings ascribed by NRS 281A.  For purposes of 
our analysis, Board members are defined as public officers and Board statutory employees are defined as 
public employees. 
9 The Nevada Commission on Ethics is the state entity charged with interpreting and enforcing NRS 281A. 
10 State of Nevada Commission on Ethics.  Commission Opinion No. 16-61A (2016). 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 64



 

11 of 73 

Exhibit II 
Potential Ethics Law Violations by Board Member 

Board 
Member Issue Potential Violation 

1 

a) Familial relationship to business colleague 
of Disciplinary Screening Officer (DSO) 
Coordinator and four DSOs at the UNLV 
School of Dental Medicine. 

a) Did not disclose family relationship and 
abstain from voting during Board action 
to appoint DSO Coordinator and DSOs 
in 2018 and 2019. 

2 

a) Employed as faculty at UNLV School of 
Dental Medicine and is a colleague of the 
DSO Coordinator and four DSOs also 
employed there. 

a) Did not disclose relationships and 
abstain from voting during Board action 
to appoint DSO Coordinator and DSOs 
in 2018 and 2019. 

b) Vice president of non-state professional 
dental association.  A DSO appointed in 
2018 was also president of the same non-
state professional dental association as 
the Board member. 

b) Did not disclose relationship and abstain 
from voting during Board action to 
appoint DSO in 2018. 

3 

a) Board president of local dental health non-
profit organization.  A DSO appointed in 
calendar years 2015 through 2019 is also 
a board member of the same local dental 
health non-profit organization. 

a) Did not disclose relationship and abstain 
from voting during Board action to 
appoint DSOs in 2015 through 2019. 

b) Appointed as Board review panel member 
in September 2017 for service in calendar 
year 2018. 

b) Did not abstain from Board vote to set 
review panel compensation at January 
2018 Board meeting. 

Source: Board minutes and publicly available information. 
 
Board Members May Have Used 
Board Positions for Personal Gain 
 
Board members may have used their Board positions for personal gain for 
themselves or for their colleagues.  For example, one Board member was also a 
member of the review panel but did not abstain from the Board’s vote to set review 
panel compensation.  NRS prohibits public officers and employees from using their 
position in government for personal gain.  Prohibited activities include securing or 
granting unwarranted privileges, preferences, exemptions, or advantages for 
themselves, any business in which they have a significant pecuniary interest, or 
any person to whom they have a commitment in a private capacity.11,12   

  

                                            
11 NRS 281A.139 defines pecuniary interest as any beneficial or detrimental interest in a matter that consists 
of, is measured in, or is otherwise related to money. 
12 NRS 281A.065 defines commitment in a private capacity as a commitment, interest, or relationship of a 
public officer or employee to a person:  who is an employer or relative of the public officer, employee, or related 
party; with whom the public officer or employee has a substantial continuing business relationship; or with 
whom the public officer or employee has any other similar commitment, interest, or relationship.  Related party 
includes a public officer or employee’s spouse, domestic partner, or member of their household. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 65



 

12 of 73 

Board Members Improperly 
Voted on Board Matters 
 
Board members improperly voted on matters pertaining to Board appointments of 
the Disciplinary Screening Officer (DSO) Coordinator and DSOs.  All three Board 
members failed to abstain from the vote to appoint persons with whom they had a 
commitment in a private capacity at the time of the vote or disclose the nature of 
the relationships, in violation of Ethics Law.   
 
NRS 281A.420 prohibits public officers from voting on or advocating for the 
passage or failure of a matter when the independence of judgment of a reasonable 
person in the situation would be materially affected by the public officer’s 
acceptance of a gift or loan, significant pecuniary interest, or commitment in a 
private capacity to the interests of another person.  Additionally, public officers and 
employees are prohibited from approving, disapproving, voting, abstaining from 
voting, or acting upon such matters without disclosing information regarding the 
nature of the relationship in public at the time the matter is considered. 
 
Board Members Acknowledge 
Ethics Law Requirements 
 
The Board provides members with a manual that includes the Nevada Office of the 
Attorney General’s Open Meeting Law, Board and Commission, and 
Administrative Rulemaking manuals.  These manuals provide information and 
guidance on federal and state requirements for duties carried out by public bodies, 
officials, and employees. 
 
The Board reports new members attend an orientation upon appointment that 
includes training on Ethics Law provisions.  As required by NRS 281A.500(3), 
Board members complete a form acknowledging they have received, read, and 
understand statutory ethical standards for public officers and employees following 
completion of training.  Consequently, Board members ought to be aware of 
appropriate and ethical behavior in carrying out their duties. 
 
Board Member, DSO Coordinator, and 
DSOs Are Also Nevada State Public Employees 
 
A Board member, the DSO Coordinator, and four current DSOs are also employed 
by the UNLV School of Dental Medicine as members of faculty or administration.13  
These individuals are subject to Ethics Law requirements that prohibit conflicts 
between private and public interests.  Their business relationships at the School 
of Dental Medicine in relation to their public service to the Board are considered 
commitments in a private capacity according to Ethics Law.   
 

                                            
13 The Board member is both a public officer and a public employee. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 66



 

13 of 73 

The Nevada System of Higher Education Bylaws specify, “Faculty members 
performing compensated outside professional or scholarly service are subject to 
the code of ethical standards of the State of Nevada…which governs the conduct 
of public officers and employees.”14  These individuals may be in violation of Ethics 
Law related to the same matters as Board members 2 and 3 with ties to the School 
of Dental Medicine discussed in Exhibit II. 
 
DSO Coordinator and DSOs 
Are Former Board Members 
 
The DSO Coordinator and several Board-appointed DSOs previously served as 
Board members.  These individuals may have secured an advantage for 
themselves through their positions as former Board members, resulting in 
appointment to these paid positions following the conclusion of their Board terms.  
The DSO Coordinator and DSOs are compensated at $50 an hour to provide 
services to the Board, which provides appointees to these positions with a 
significant pecuniary interest.  Former Board members were paid almost $17,000 
(52 percent) of $32,500 in payments to DSOs and the DSO Coordinator in fiscal 
year 2018. 
 
Former Board Members Use Positions 
For Private Opportunity 
 
Former Board members may have secured an advantage for themselves in a 
private opportunity through their Board positions.  Data for DSOs appointed 
between January 2015 and February 2019 revealed that 11 (31 percent) of the last 
36 DSOs and seven (28 percent) of 25 current DSOs appointed by the Board 
previously served as Board members.  Two of the current DSOs and the DSO 
Coordinator (12 percent) were appointed immediately following the conclusion of 
their Board terms.  The Board’s practice of appointing DSOs immediately following 
Board service violates Ethics Law.   
 
Public officers and employees are prohibited from seeking other employment or 
contracts for themselves or any person to whom they have a commitment in a 
private capacity through the use of their official position.  The Commission found 
that even if a public officer or employee does not specifically initiate contact or 
actively seek private employment or a business opportunity, other circumstances 
may be present warranting consideration under Ethics Law.  These circumstances 
may include whether the opportunity would have been provided but for the public 
position held or if the opportunity closely relates to the public officer or employee’s 
previous public duties.15   
 
 
  
                                            
14 Nevada System of Higher Education Bylaws, Title 4, Chapter 3, Section 9.4. 
15 State of Nevada Commission on Ethics. Commission Opinion No. 16-61A (2016). 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 67



 

14 of 73 

Lack of Written Contract Does Not 
Exempt Activity from Ethics Law 
 
The Board does not enter into contracts with Board-appointed professional service 
providers who provide DSO, review panel, and various inspection, evaluation, and 
consulting services because it does not deem them independent contractors.  The 
commission has found that even though a consulting arrangement may not appear 
in a written contract, this does not exempt related public officer or employee 
activities from consideration under Ethics Law.16  Therefore, even oral contracts 
are subject to the contracting and employment prohibitions of NRS 281A.400. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
Three Board members, the DSO Coordinator, and some DSOs may have violated 
Ethics Law.  Avoiding conflicts of interest in actuality and in appearance will help 
increase transparency and ensure the separation of private and public interests for 
the protection and benefit of the public.  Avoiding conflicts of interest will require 
the Board to consult with the Nevada Commission on Ethics to determine Board 
compliance with NRS 281A, referred to as Ethics Law. 
 
 
Recommendation 
 

2. Consult with the Commission on Ethics to avoid conflicts of interest. 

                                            
16 State of Nevada Commission on Ethics.  Commission Opinion No. 05-16A (2005). 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 68



 

15 of 73 

Comply with State Contracting Requirements 
 
The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners (Board) should comply with state 
contracting requirements in Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 333 and Nevada 
Administrative Code (NAC) 333 to help ensure transparency in Board operations, 
protect the interests of the state, and reduce liability and costs to the state.  
Compliance will require the Board to consult with the Office of the Attorney General 
(OAG) and the Purchasing Division to determine contracting procedures 
appropriate for Board operations. 
 
Board Not Contracting With 
Professional Service Providers 
 
The Board does not enter into written contracts with Board-appointed professional 
service providers because the Board deems them appointees and not independent 
contractors.  This practice reduces transparency in Board contracting activities and 
violates NRS 333 and NAC 333.   
 
We reviewed approved minutes for the first Board meeting of each year when the 
Board votes on appointees, for calendar years 2015 through 2019.  The Board-
appointed between 72 and 77 professional service providers each year during the 
period without entering into written contracts.  This represents a potential 371 
contracts that may not have been procured in accordance with NRS 333 and NAC 
333.  Exhibit III summarizes the number of Board-appointed professional service 
providers by year for the period reviewed. 
 
Exhibit III 

Board-Appointed Professional Service Providers 2015 – 2019 

Professional Service Provider Typea 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
Total All 

Years 
Disciplinary Screening Officers (DSO) 25 26 25 24 25 125 
Non-Board Review Panel Membersb n/a n/a n/a 2 2 4 
Anesthesia Evaluators / Inspectors 23 22 27 26 27 125 
Infection Control Inspectors 25 25 25 20 22 117 

Total by Provider Type 73 73 77 72 76 371 
Source:  Board meeting minutes. 
Notes: 
a We limited our scope to the professional service provider types listed in Exhibit III, and included only providers 
appointed at the first Board meeting of each calendar year. 
b The Board’s review panel was appointed in 2018 pursuant to legislation enacted in the 2017 legislative 
session. 
 
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 69



 

16 of 73 

Board’s Professional Service Providers  
Are Independent Contractors 
 
The Board procures professional services for investigative, inspection, evaluation, 
and other Dental Practice Act (DPA) related support services for the Board’s 
investigative and enforcement process.17  The Board’s professional service 
providers include Disciplinary Screening Officers (DSOs), non-Board review panel 
members, and various other inspectors and evaluators who are considered 
independent contractors pursuant to criteria defined in NRS.  
 
Board Appoints Professional 
Service Providers 
 
The Board appoints professional service providers annually to provider lists.  
These provider lists are used by the Executive Director to assign Board 
investigations or evaluations.  Specialized investigations or evaluations that cannot 
be conducted by providers on Board approved lists are assigned to other 
professional service providers directly by the Board at a public meeting.  The 
Board’s professional service providers conduct investigations or evaluations that 
include but are not limited to:  confidential records; sanitary conditions; oral 
examinations of patients; licensee compliance monitoring activities; or other DPA 
related support activities. 
 
Professional Service Providers 
Are Not Board Employees 
 
The Board’s professional service providers are dentists, hygienists, and other 
dental specialty practitioners who are licensed under the DPA.  These individuals 
are not employees of the Board, do not provide services to the Board on a full-time 
basis, and are self-employed.   
 
Board Does Not Control  
Aspects of Contracted Work 
 
The Board’s professional service providers conduct investigations or evaluations 
in various non-Board locations such as the places of business for licensees being 
investigated or evaluated, or the professional service providers’ own places of 
business.  Consistent with the NRS 608 description of an independent contractor, 
the Board does not control when the work is performed or other aspects of 
contracted work, including the means, manner of performance, or results of the 
work performed.   
 
  

                                            
17 Professional service providers who are not licensees are excluded for purposes of this analysis, including 
attorneys, accountants, lobbyists, and other non-licensee service providers. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 70



 

17 of 73 

Board’s Assessment of Independent 
Contractors Conflicts with NRS 
 
The Board reports it does not consider its professional service providers 
independent contractors because independent contractors determine their scope 
of work and compensation.  This assessment conflicts with NRS. 
 
NRS 608.0155(1) provides that a person is conclusively presumed to be an 
independent contractor if the person:  has an employer identification number, 
social security number, or has filed as self-employed with the Internal Revenue 
Service; is required to have a state or local business license, occupational license, 
or insurance or bonding to perform the agreed-upon services; and satisfies at least 
three of five specific criteria.  The following criteria specified in this section of NRS 
are applicable to the Board’s professional service providers: 
 

• Except where necessary to exercise control to comply with any statutory, 
regulatory, or contractual obligations, the person has control  and discretion 
over the means and manner of the performance of any work and the result 
of the work; 

• The person has control over when the work is performed except when a 
completion schedule is agreed upon by the contracting parties; and 

• The person is not required to work exclusively for one person or entity. 
 
Therefore, the Board’s professional service providers are considered independent 
contractors because they meet the criteria provided in NRS. 
 
Board Practices Do Not Comply with  
State Contracting Requirements 
 
Board practices do not comply with the state’s contracting requirements because 
it does not enter into contracts with professional service providers subject to the 
provisions of NRS 333 and NAC 333.  Further, transparency in the Board’s 
selection process is reduced because the Board confers the duty of evaluating 
professional service provider qualifications to individual reviewers prior to Board 
appointment. 
 
Limited Review of Applications  
for Professional Service Providers 
 
Reviews of applications for licensees seeking to become Board investigators, 
inspectors, or evaluators are limited.  An individual reviewer determines whether 
applicants meet qualification criteria and recommends those meeting criteria to the 
Board for appointment.  Applications are returned to applicants not meeting these 
criteria.  There is no secondary review of applicant evaluation determinations and 
no historical record of the process.   
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 71



 

18 of 73 

DSO and infection control inspector applications are evaluated by the DSO 
Coordinator.  Anesthesia inspector and evaluator applications are evaluated by the 
Chair of the Board’s Anesthesia Committee, currently a member of the Board.  This 
practice lacks transparency because there is no documentation of the selection 
process. 
 
The Board could directly evaluate applicants or defer the task to an evaluation 
subcommittee made up of more than one reviewer.  This process would include 
documenting evaluation activities as part of state contracting activities.  This would 
help reduce the potential for evaluation errors, ensure impartial evaluations, and 
create a historical record of the process.  The Board could implement an applicant 
evaluation procedure by coordinating with the state Purchasing Division to 
implement request for qualification procedures into its contracting process. 
 
Contracts Valued at $2,000 or More 
Subject to BOE Approval Process 
 
The Board’s current practice of not contracting with its professional service 
providers violates NRS because cumulative payments exceed the minimum 
contract limits and increase liability and costs to the state.  NRS 333.700 requires 
each proposed contract with an independent contractor to be submitted to the state 
Board of Examiners (BOE).18 
 
All professional services provided by independent contractors valued at $2,000 or 
more must have a contract to protect the interests of the state.  These contracts 
are subject to the BOE contract approval process and are approved on a tiered 
basis by contract dollar amount.  Contracts valued at $2,000 to less than $50,000 
are approved by the Clerk of the BOE or designee.  Contracts $50,000 or greater 
are approved by the BOE directly.19  Contracts do not become effective without 
BOE or Clerk of the BOE approval. 
 
  

                                            
18 BOE members are the Governor, the Attorney General, and the Secretary of State. 
19 The Clerk of the BOE is the Director of the Office of Finance or designee. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 72



 

19 of 73 

Professional Service Provider Costs 
Exceeded Minimum Contract Limits 
 
The lack of transparency in Board operations did not ensure the interests of the 
state were protected, increased liability, and violated NRS because written 
contracts were not in place.  Financial data for the most recently completed fiscal 
year ending June 30, 2018 revealed: 
 

• Costs for 10 (22 percent) of 45 professional service providers for the year 
exceeded the state’s minimum contract limit requiring a written contract. 

• Costs for these 10 individuals totaled approximately $42,300 (69 percent) 
of $61,500 total professional service provider costs for the period.20   

• Ninety percent of DSO costs were associated with seven independent 
contractors whose costs exceeded the state’s minimum contract limit, both 
alone and when combined with other costs. 

 
Exhibit IV summarizes fiscal year 2018 professional service provider costs 
exceeding the state’s minimum contract limit requiring a written contract. 
 
Exhibit IV 

Fiscal Year 2018 Professional Service Provider Costs Exceeding 
State’s Minimum Contract Limit Requiring a Written Contract 

Professional 
Service Provider DSO Review Panel Anesthesia 

Infection 
Control 

Total by 
Provider 

1 $           6,575 $                      - $                 - $                     - $           6,575 
2  7,896  - - - 7,896 
3  3,047 - - 800  3,847 
4  2,494 -  2,039 - 4,533 
5 - -  2,712 - 2,712 
6  2,643  - - - 2,643 
7 - -  237  4,115  4,352 
8  3,550   775  - - 4,325 
9 - - -  2,464 2,464 

10  2,913  - - - 2,913 
Total by Service: $         29,118 $                 775 $         4,988 $             7,379 $         42,260 

All Provider 
Compensation: $         32,455 $              2,759 $       14,821 $           11,505 $         61,540 

Percent of Total: 90% 28% 34% 64% 69% 
Source:  Board financial accounting data for fiscal year 2018. 
 
  

                                            
20 Costs include compensation, travel, and reimbursement of miscellaneous investigation expenditures. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 73



 

20 of 73 

Board Practice Increases 
Liability and Costs to the State 
 
The Board’s practice of procuring professional services without written contracts 
and providing coverage for them under the Board’s general liability insurance 
policy increases liability to the state, regardless of the monetary value of services 
provided.   
 
Specific state-required contract terms must be included in contracts between a 
state agency and an independent contractor in conformance with requirements 
issued by the OAG.  These contract terms help ensure liability and costs to the 
state are reduced, including but not limited to:  limits on the state’s liability; 
indemnification from the contractor; professional liability insurance; warranties; 
provisions for reimbursement of costs; and choice of Nevada law and jurisdiction.  
These protections are not available to state agencies as legal remedies when 
written contracts are not in place. 
 
Professional Services May Increase  
Liability and Risk of Loss 
 
The nature of professional services provided to the Board may increase the state’s 
liability and risk of loss, regardless of the monetary value of the services being 
provided.  The Board needs to enter into contracts for all professional services to 
ensure the state’s interests are protected and liability and costs to the state are 
reduced, including for services valued at less than $2,000. 
 
Professional service providers conduct investigations and evaluations in various 
non-Board business locations such as licensees’ or professional service providers’ 
places of business.  These activities may include oral examinations of patients that 
have the potential to affect the health, safety, and welfare of the public if a patient 
is harmed.  These activities may also affect licensees’ livelihoods dependent on 
investigation or evaluation results.   
 
Additionally, the Board reimburses unanticipated costs related to investigations or 
evaluations to independent contractors, which may increase costs to a level that 
exceeds the state’s minimum contract limit requiring a written contract.  These 
include costs for damages to the professional service providers’ places of 
business, litigation costs, or costs to investigate multiple complaints against the 
same licensee. 
 
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 74



 

21 of 73 

Board Reimburses Costs 
Without Contracts 
 
The Board reimburses investigation or evaluation costs to professional service 
providers without contracts in place.  Board approvals to reimburse these costs 
without contracts in place violate the provisions of NRS 333.700. 
 
For example, the Board approved reimbursement to a DSO for the cost to repair a 
“hand-crafted glass windowed door.”  The door shattered when slammed by an 
angry patient the DSO had been examining in relation to a Board investigation 
conducted at his private place of business.21  In another instance in 2018, the 
Board approved reimbursement of litigation costs to a DSO personally named in a 
lawsuit against the Board, even though the court did not approve the DSO’s 
request to recover legal fees.   
 
These costs may be reasonable given the costs were incurred in relation to 
professional services provided to the Board.  However, there were no written 
contracts in place to ensure allowability of the costs, determination of liable parties, 
or conformance with state contracting provisions. 
 
NRS 333.700(3)(a) allows independent contractor travel, subsistence, and other 
personal costs to be reimbursed by state agencies if the costs and cost amounts 
are provided for in a contract.  The state’s professional services contract templates 
include language to this effect.   
 
Board Provides Liability Coverage 
for Independent Contractors 
 
The Board reports it provides coverage for professional service providers under 
the Board’s general liability insurance policy because the Board does not consider 
them independent contractors.  State contracting templates include clauses for 
contractor indemnification and requirements for contractor professional liability 
insurance to protect against this type of arrangement.   
 
Providing professional liability insurance coverage to professional service 
providers increases liability to the state, may increase the cost of Board general 
liability insurance coverage, and violates NRS.  NRS 333.700(3)(b) prohibits 
agencies from providing state insurance coverage to independent contractors. 
   
  

                                            
21 Board minutes do not reflect the cost of the door. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 75



 

22 of 73 

Board Must Comply with 
NRS 333 and NAC 333 
 
The Board must comply with NRS 333 and NAC 333 as an agency of the state.  
The OAG determined that fee-funded boards are agencies of the state and subject 
to financial and administrative oversight by both the legislative and executive 
departments of the state.22  Further, NRS 333.020 includes boards in its definition 
of a using agency.   
 
NRS 333.700 provides that using agencies may contract with independent 
contractors and requires such contracts to be written and procured in accordance 
with the provisions of NRS 333.  NAC 333.150(1) requires: services of an 
independent contractor to be awarded pursuant to NRS 333 and NAC 333; 
contracts to conform to the form, terms, and conditions prescribed by the OAG; 
and contracts to include any insurance provisions required by the state Risk 
Manager. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
The Board procures professional services to support the Board’s investigative and 
enforcement process, but does not enter into written contracts for the services as 
required by NRS.  The Board additionally provides general liability insurance 
coverage to professional service providers and reimburses costs not provided for 
in a written contract.  These practices and the nature of the services provided to 
the Board increase liability and costs to the state. 
 
Complying with state contracting requirements in NRS 333 and NAC 333 will help 
ensure transparency in Board operations, protect the interests of the state, and 
reduce liability and costs to the state.  Compliance will require the Board to consult 
with the Office of the Attorney General and the state Purchasing Division to 
determine contracting procedures appropriate for Board operations. 
 
 
Recommendation 
 

3. Comply with state contracting requirements.  

                                            
22 Office of the Attorney General, Opinion No. 2018-07, December 21, 2018. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 76



 

23 of 73 

Comply with the Nevada Administrative Procedure Act (APA) 
 
The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners (Board) should comply with the 
Administrative Procedure Act (APA) to increase transparency in Board rulemaking 
and rules of practice.23  Complying with the APA will ensure Board regulations are 
evaluated through the public rulemaking process and are consistent with statutory 
authority and legislative intent.  Participation in the rulemaking process by 
interested members of the public is central to the procedural requirements of the 
APA. 
 
Complying with the APA will also help ensure adopted rules of practice are clearly 
defined and are implemented through formal administrative procedures with Board 
oversight and public disclosure.   
 
Board Activities Affecting Private 
Rights Defined as Regulations 
 
The APA defines board activities as regulation when they affect the private rights 
or procedures available to the public and are applicable to the public in general or 
to all licensees.  The Board should comply with the APA by ensuring all Board 
procedures or duties meeting these criteria are formally adopted in regulation to 
ensure consistency with statutory authority and legislative intent.  Complying with 
APA will also increase transparency in Board rulemaking.  
 
Legislature Reviews and 
Authorizes Regulations 
 
The Nevada Constitution grants power to the Legislature to review, authorize, 
modify, or veto state agency regulations.  In exercising its power, the Legislature 
created the APA with the intent to establish the minimum procedural requirements 
for rulemaking and adjudication procedures of all state executive branch agencies.  
The APA includes boards in its definition of agencies and confers no additional 
rulemaking authority to agencies other than that provided for in the APA. 
 
Therefore, the Board is subject to legislative oversight of its rulemaking process 
and to APA provisions.  By not adhering to APA requirements, the Board’s 
regulations have not been evaluated for statutory authority and consistency with 
legislative intent.  Failing to adhere to APA requirements opens the Board to 
federal antitrust liability. 
 
  

                                            
23 NRS 233B is referred to as the Administrative Procedure Act (APA). 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 77



 

24 of 73 

NRS Requires Board to Adopt  
Regulations and Define Duties 
 
The state Administrative Rulemaking manual published by the Nevada Office of 
the Attorney General (OAG) specifies that rulemaking authority is delegated to 
executive agencies by specific statute because agencies have no inherent 
authority to adopt regulations.   
 
Mandatory rules are those that agencies are required by statute to adopt.  The 
Legislature uses the word “shall” in defining such mandatory rules.  NRS 631.190 
mandates that the Board shall define the duties of committees, review panels, 
examiners, officers, employees, agents, attorneys, investigators, and other 
professional consultants it appoints to carry out the provisions of the Dental 
Practice Act (DPA).   
 
NRS 233B.038(1) defines a regulation as “[a]n agency rule, standard, directive or 
statement of general applicability which effectuates or interprets law or policy, or 
describes the organization, procedure or practice requirements of any agency.”  
NRS 233B.031 includes boards of the state Executive Department in the definition 
of agencies authorized by law to make regulations or to determine contested 
cases.   
 
Administrative rulemaking procedures apply to the Board.  It is mandatory for the 
Board to adopt regulations to carry out the provisions of NRS 631, including 
defining duties of Board appointees. 
 
DSO Coordinator Position and 
Duties Not Defined in Regulation 
 
Board duties conferred to the Disciplinary Screening Officer (DSO) Coordinator 
allow this position to exercise control and heavily influence Board procedures that 
have the potential to affect the health, safety, and welfare of the public and 
licensees’ livelihoods without oversight.  These procedures meet the definition of 
a regulation as defined by the APA. 
 
The DSO Coordinator duties are defined in the Board’s DSO practice manual, as 
well as in the Board’s publicly published patient complaint process and flowchart.  
However, the DSO Coordinator position and its duties are not defined in the DPA.  
Moreover, the creation of the position and its duties as required by the DPA has 
not been evaluated through the public rulemaking process to ensure they are 
consistent with statutory authority and legislative intent. 
 
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 78



 

25 of 73 

Board Oversight Lacking for 
Board Rules of Practice 
 
Board oversight is lacking for the creation, revision, and implementation of Board 
rules of practice.  A change to the Board’s rules of practice was implemented based 
on the interpretation of a section of the DPA by the Board’s General Counsel.  
However, rules of practice cannot be implemented or revised without Board 
adoption.   
 
NRS 233B.050 requires the Board to adopt rules of practice setting forth the nature 
and requirements of all forms, instructions, and formal and informal procedures 
used by the Board.  The rules of practice must be available for public inspection. 
 
Review Panel Oversight 
Required Beginning in 2018 
 
Prior to 2019, it was the Board’s interpretation of the DPA and the Board’s practice 
to allow DSOs to dismiss complaints at their discretion.  Consequently, DSOs 
dismissed 77 percent of all verified complaints closed in calendar year 2018 
without review panel or Board oversight.   
 
NRS 631 was amended to require the Board to appoint a panel of three people to 
review investigations and informal hearings conducted by DSOs beginning in 
2018.24  The review panel must review all files and records collected or produced 
by DSOs, DSO findings of fact and conclusions, and any other information the 
panel finds necessary.  The Board reports the review panel began reviewing 
recommendations to dismiss verified complaints in 2019, a full year after the 
statutory requirement. 
 
Change in Board Rules of Practice 
Implemented Without Oversight 
 
The Board’s Executive Director advised the change to the DSO/review panel 
process in 2019 requiring review panel oversight of DSO dismissals did not require 
Board action.  The Board General Counsel’s legal opinion was the requirement is 
set in statute in NRS 631.3635 and no Board action is required.  However, no 
section of the DPA grants authority to DSOs to dismiss complaints.  While this 
section of NRS describes basic requirements for the review panel process, it does 
not describe DSO or review panel duties in detail.     
 

                                            
24 Senate Bill 256 of the 2017 legislative session. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 79



 

26 of 73 

The Board’s DSO/review panel procedures are considered rules of practice under 
APA.  Current publicly available Board procedures do not reflect changes to the 
DSO/review panel process implemented in 2019 and the change was not adopted 
by the Board at a public meeting.  Therefore, changes to the Board’s rules of 
practice were implemented without public notice or Board adoption in a public 
meeting.   
 
Consequently, a fundamental change in Board practices affecting the legal and 
private rights of licensees and private citizens was implemented without Board 
oversight, public disclosure, or formal administrative procedures.  This reduced 
transparency of Board activities, processes, and procedures.  Moreover, the 
process and related procedures could potentially be considered regulation under 
the APA because they apply to the public in general and to all licensees, effectuate 
and interpret law and policy, and affect the private rights and procedures available 
to the public.   
 
Regulations Establish Standards That 
Have the Force and Effect of Law 
 
Properly adopted regulations establish a standard of conduct that has the force 
and effect of law.  The Board has no inherent authority to adopt regulations.  This 
authority is granted to the Board by the Legislature and cannot be delegated unless 
allowed by a specific statute.  NRS 631.190 mandates the Board to adopt rules 
and regulations necessary to carry out the provisions of the DPA.  The Board is 
not ensuring compliance with the APA or the DPA. 
 
 
Conclusion 
 
Some Board procedures apply to the public in general or to all licensees and affect 
the private rights or procedures available to the public.  However, these procedures 
have not been formally adopted by the Board as regulation or defined in the DPA.  
Additionally, changes to the Board’s rules of practice were implemented without 
public notice or Board adoption at a public meeting. 
 
Complying with the APA to increase transparency in Board rulemaking and rules 
of practice will ensure Board regulations are evaluated through the public 
rulemaking process and are consistent with statutory authority and legislative 
intent.  Complying with the APA will also help ensure adopted rules of practice are 
clearly defined and are implemented through formal administrative procedures 
with Board oversight and public disclosure.   
 
 
Recommendation 
 

4. Comply with the Nevada Administrative Procedure Act (APA).  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 80



 

27 of 73 

 
Appendix A 

 
Scope and Methodology, 

Background, Acknowledgements 
 

 
Scope and Methodology  

 
We began the audit in January 2019.  In the course of our work, we interviewed 
management and discussed processes inherent to the Nevada State Board of 
Dental Examiners’ (Board) responsibilities.  We additionally interviewed 
management and staff from the Nevada Commission on Ethics, the state 
Purchasing Division, and members of local dental organizations. 
 
We researched Board internal and publicly available records for fiscal years 2014 
through 2019, applicable Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS), Nevada Administrative 
Code (NAC), State Board of Examiners’ meeting data, opinions issued by the 
Nevada Office of the Attorney General and the Nevada Commission on Ethics, 
court records and case law, prior audits, and other federal and state guidelines.   
 
We concluded fieldwork in May 2019. 
 
We conducted our audit in conformance with the International Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. 
 
 

Background 
 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners Overview 
 
The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners (Board) is an independent 
occupational licensing Board that was created during the 1951 legislative session 
of the Nevada Legislature.  The Board’s purpose is to regulate and enforce 
provisions in NRS 631 and NAC 631 governing the practice of dentistry, dental 
hygiene, and related specialties.  NRS 631 and NAC 631 are collectively referred 
to as the “Dental Practice Act” (DPA).  NRS 622 defines the general provisions 
governing regulatory bodies and mandates professional and occupational 
licensing boards to enforce statutory provisions for the protection and benefit of 
the public. 
 
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 81



 

28 of 73 

Board Membership 
 
The Board consists of 11 members appointed by the Governor.  Member 
qualifications are defined in statute and require: 
 

• Six members who are licensed in dentistry, are residents of Nevada, and 
have ethically engaged in the practice of dentistry in Nevada for at least five 
years.  Three of these members must be from Carson City, Douglas County, 
or Washoe County; four must be from Clark County; and one may be from 
any county in Nevada. 

• One member who has been a Nevada resident for at least five years and 
represents the interests of persons or agencies that regularly provide health 
care to patients who are indigent, uninsured, or unable to afford health care.  
This member may be a licensee.25 

• Three members who are licensed in dental hygiene, are residents of 
Nevada, and have been actively engage in the practice of dental hygiene 
for at least five years before their appointment to the Board.  One of these 
members must be from Carson City, Douglas County, or Washoe County; 
one must be from Clark County; and one may be from any county in 
Nevada. 

• One member who is a member of the general public.  This member must 
not be a dentist or dental hygienist, or the spouse, parent, or child of a 
dentist or dental hygienist.   

 
Currently, the Board consists of seven dentists, three dental hygienists, and one 
member of the general public.  The current Board president is a dental hygienist 
and was elected to the position by the Board at its February 22, 2019 meeting. 
 
Board Funding Sources 
 
The Board is primarily funded by fee-based revenues collected from licensees and 
from provision of continuing education courses.  The Board does not receive state 
general fund appropriations and its fiscal activity is not included in and does not 
affect the state’s Executive Budget.  Additionally, the Board maintains its own 
accounting and payroll systems and hires its own staff.  Accordingly, the Board is 
exempt from the provisions of:  the state’s budget act, NRS Chapter 353, “State 
Financial Administration”; the state’s internal control act, NRS Chapter 353A, 
“Internal Accounting and Administrative Control”; and the state’s personnel act, 
NRS Chapter 284, “State Personnel System.” 
 
The Board’s total revenues for fiscal year (FY) 2018 were approximately $1.3 
million.  Exhibit V summarizes the Board’s revenues by funding source for FY 
2018.  

                                            
25 Licensees include dentists, dental hygienists, and dental specialty practitioners. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 82



 

29 of 73 

Exhibit V 
Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners 

Fiscal Year 2018 Revenues by Funding Source 

 
Source:  Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners’ financial accounting data for fiscal year 2018. 
Note: 
a Other includes CEU provider fees, license verification fees, and miscellaneous income. 

 
 

Acknowledgments 
 
We express appreciation to the management and staff of the Board, Office of the 
Attorney General, Nevada Commission on Ethics, and the Purchasing Division for 
their cooperation and assistance throughout the audit.  
 
Contributors to this report included: 
 
Warren Lowman 

Administrator 
 
Heather Domenici, CPA, MAcc 
Executive Branch Auditor 
   

Public Book Board Meeting Page 83



 

30 of 73 

Appendix B 
 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners 
Response and Implementation Plan 

 
 

 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 84



 

31 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 85



 

32 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 86



 

33 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 87



 

34 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 88



 

35 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 89



 

36 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 90



 

37 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 91



 

38 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 92



 

39 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 93



 

40 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 94



 

41 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 95



 

42 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 96



 

43 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 97



 

44 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 98



 

45 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 99



 

46 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 100



 

47 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 101



 

48 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 102



 

49 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 103



 

50 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 104



 

51 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 105



 

52 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 106



 

53 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 107



 

54 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 108



 

55 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 109



 

56 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 110



 

57 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 111



 

58 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 112



 

59 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 113



 

60 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 114



 

61 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 115



 

62 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 116



 

63 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 117



 

64 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 118



 

65 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 119



 

66 of 73 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 120



 

67 of 73 

 
 
 

 
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 121



 

68 of 73 

Appendix C 
 

Timetable for Implementing 
Audit Recommendations 

 
 
In consultation with the Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners (Board), the 
Division of Internal Audits categorized the recommendations contained within this 
report into two separate implementation time frames (i.e., Category 1 – less than 
six months; Category 2 – more than six months).  The Board should begin taking 
steps to implement all recommendations as soon as possible.  The Board’s target 
completion dates are incorporated from Appendix B. 
 

 
Category 1:  Recommendations with an anticipated  

implementation period less than six months. 
 

Recommendation 
 
1. Strengthen oversight of investigative and enforcement 

activities.  (page 9) 
 

2. Consult with the Commission on Ethics to avoid conflicts of
interest.  (page 14) 
 

3. Comply with state contracting requirements.  (page 22) 
 

4. Comply with the Nevada Administrative Procedure Act (APA).
(page 26) 

 
Time Frame 

 
 Dec 2019 

 
 

 Dec 2019 
 
 

 Dec 2019 
 

 Dec 2019 

 
 
 

 
The Division of Internal Audits shall evaluate the action taken by the Board 
concerning the report recommendations within six months from the issuance of 
this report.  The Division of Internal Audits must report the results of its evaluation 
to the Executive Branch Audit Committee and the Board. 
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 122



 

69 of 73 

Appendix D 
 

Discussion on the Investigative and Enforcement Process 
For the Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners 

 
 
 

Overview 
 
The Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners (Board) is an independent 
occupational licensing board tasked with the regulation and enforcement of the 
provisions in Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 631 and Nevada Administrative 
Code (NAC) 631 governing the practice of dentistry, dental hygiene, and related 
specialties.  NRS 631 and NAC 631 are collectively referred to as the “Dental 
Practice Act” (DPA).  The Board is granted oversight of investigative and 
enforcement activities as part of duties defined in the DPA. 
 
 

Complaints 
 
The Board is required to investigate complaints against dental practitioners, dental 
hygienists, and other related dental specialty practitioners if complaint allegations 
would constitute grounds for discipline under the DPA, if proven.  The Board 
provides the public with a form for complaint submission, but complainants may 
submit their complaint via written correspondence as long as required information 
is included.   
 
With the exception of controlled substance complaints reviewed by the Executive 
Director, it is the Board’s practice for the Disciplinary Screening Officer (DSO) 
Coordinator to review all complaints the Board receives to determine whether 
Board jurisdiction and matters deemed potentially actionable under DPA exist.  If 
the DSO Coordinator determines Board jurisdiction and/or DPA violations do not 
exist, the complaint is dismissed, the complainant is notified in writing, and no 
action will be taken by the Board.   
 
The Board requires complainants to submit a notarized verification that is sworn 
and deposed regarding their complaint and a records release form if the DSO 
Coordinator determines complaint criteria exist.  Formal investigation is initiated 
once the verified complaint is submitted by the complainant.   
 
Verified complaints are different than formal complaints.  Formal complaints are 
filed by the Board’s General Counsel to request a formal Board hearing.  The Board 
interprets the reference in NRS 631.368(2) to the “complaint or other document 
filed by the Board to initiate disciplinary action” to mean formal complaint.  
Therefore, the Board deems the content of verified complaints to be investigatory 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 123



 

70 of 73 

and confidential, while formal complaints are deemed public records by the Board.  
There is some potential for confusion regarding the difference between a verified 
complaint and a formal complaint because the DPA does not define them.   
 
Complaints dismissed without formal Board action never progress past 
investigation and all related documentation is considered confidential in 
conformance with NRS 631.368.  Therefore, related documentation is not 
considered to be public record and matters contained in complaint allegations are 
not reportable to federal authorities. 
 
 

Investigations and Review Panel Oversight 
 
Licensees are provided with notice of the verified complaint filed against them or 
of the approval of a Board authorized investigation.26  Licensees have 15 days to 
respond to the notice and are allowed to have an attorney represent them during 
any proceedings.  Following receipt of a response from a licensee, a Board-
appointed DSO is assigned to investigate the verified complaint or authorized 
investigation.   
 
The Board has delegated to the Executive Director the duty to assign 
investigations to DSOs from a list approved by the Board each calendar year.  The 
Board reports that the Executive Director assigns investigations to DSOs based 
on:  licensee specialty; geographic area of the affected patient; DSO experience; 
and DSO caseload.  Most complaints the Board receives relate to services 
provided by general dentists.  The Board currently has seven appointed DSOs 
practicing in general dentistry, two in northern Nevada and five in southern 
Nevada. 
 
Senate Bill 256 of the 2017 legislative session amended NRS 631 to require the 
Board to appoint a panel of three people to review investigations and informal 
hearings conducted by DSOs beginning January 1, 2018.  It was the Board’s 
practice at that time to continue to allow DSOs to dismiss complaints without 
review panel or Board oversight, as had been the Board’s practice prior to the 
creation of the review panel.   
 
The review panel is required to be made up of one dentist Board member and one 
dental hygienist Board member, plus one additional non-Board member who is 
either a dentist if the licensee is a dentist or a dental hygienist if the licensee is a 
dental hygienist.  Review panel members are required to review and consider 
various documentation, including but not limited to: all files and records collected 
and produced by an investigator; any written findings of fact and conclusions 
prepared by an investigator; and any other information deemed necessary by the 

                                            
26 The Board approves authorized investigations based on grievances presented to the Board by other 
persons or entities, or based on information discovered during the course of an investigation of a previous 
complaint or authorized investigation. 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 124



 

71 of 73 

review panel.  DSOs who perform investigations cannot participate on the review 
panel that conducts the review. 
 
Beginning in 2019, Board procedure was revised to require DSOs to present all 
findings, recommendations, and supporting documentation for proposed complaint 
dismissals to the review panel for review.  Review panel proceedings are not 
subject to open meeting law. 
 
The Board dismisses complaints following investigation if the DSO and/or the 
review panel deemed: (1) the treatment fell within acceptable parameters of 
reasonable care and/or (2) there were no violations of Nevada law warranting 
Board action and/or (3) there was not a preponderance of evidence to establish a 
violation of Nevada law occurred that allows the Board to take action.   
 
Based on its review of DSO findings and recommendations, the review panel may: 
 

1. Determine a preponderance of evidence does not exist to support the 
DSO’s preliminary findings.  The complaint is dismissed and the 
complainant is advised of administrative, civil, and peer review remedies 
afforded to complainant under state and federal law; or 

2. Determine a preponderance of evidence exists to support the DSO’s 
preliminary findings and recommendations.  The matter is returned to the 
DSO for further proceedings including holding an informal hearing or 
negotiating a non-disciplinary corrective action or disciplinary action 
stipulation; or 

3. Determine a preponderance of evidence exists to support the DSO’s 
preliminary findings, but the review panel does not support the DSO’s 
recommendations.  The matter is returned to the DSO with the review 
panel’s proposed recommendations for review and consideration in further 
proceedings.  Proceedings may include an informal hearing or negotiation 
of a non-disciplinary corrective action or disciplinary action stipulation. 

 
 

Informal Hearings and Board Actions 
 
If a verified complaint or authorized investigation is not dismissed, the DSO may 
offer a non-disciplinary corrective action or disciplinary action stipulation 
agreement (stipulation agreement) to the licensee.  Non-disciplinary corrective 
action may include licensee monitoring, continuing education requirements, or 
patient reimbursement.  Disciplinary action may include suspension, probation, 
fines, public reprimand, patient reimbursement, restrictions on practice, and/or 
other mandatory requirements.  Stipulation agreement terms go into effect 
immediately following approval by the Board at a public meeting.  Stipulation 
agreements not approved by the Board are returned to the DSO for further 
negotiation or an informal hearing.  
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 125



 

72 of 73 

In the event the DSO and/or review panel do not believe it appropriate to offer a 
stipulation agreement or the licensee declines to enter into a stipulation 
agreement, the DSO conducts an informal hearing after providing 10 days’ notice 
to the licensee.  The informal hearing is voluntary and proceeds whether the 
licensee chooses to attend, with or without legal counsel.   
 
The DSO prepares findings and recommendations for review panel review 
following conclusion of the informal hearing.  If the review panel agrees with the 
DSO’s findings and recommendations, they are presented to the licensee and the 
DSO’s report is adopted for submission to the Board for consideration at a public 
meeting.  The findings and recommendations go into effect if the licensee agrees 
to them and the Board adopts them.   
 
A formal complaint is filed to request a formal Board hearing if the Board does not 
adopt the informal hearing findings and recommendations, even if the licensee 
agreed to them.  A formal complaint is also filed if the licensee does not agree with 
the informal hearing findings and recommendations.   
 
The determination of whether to adopt or reject findings and recommendations for 
discipline or corrective action rests solely with the Board.  Additionally, the Board 
is not bound by the DSO’s offer of non-disciplinary corrective action and may 
initiate discipline at its discretion. 
 
 

Formal Board Hearings 
 
The licensee is notified at least 10 days prior to the date of a formal Board hearing.  
Various aspects of due process are observed during this process including 
provisions governing motions and Board discretion on whether to hear oral 
arguments.  The Board has the authority to issue a subpoena to compel the 
attendance of witnesses or production of documents or objects.  The charges and 
evidence supporting the formal complaint filed by the Board’s General Counsel are 
presented to the Board at a public hearing.  
 
The licensee may be represented by legal counsel at the hearing, with General 
Counsel acting as prosecutor and a Deputy Attorney General representing the 
Board.  The Board may request or permit briefs to be filed and may consider 
findings and recommendations and/or reports submitted for its consideration by 
the DSO and/or review panel.  The DSO and/or review panel members may 
provide testimony concerning their investigation, findings, and recommendations, 
but may not participate in the Board's decision.   
 
  

Public Book Board Meeting Page 126



 

73 of 73 

The decision made by the Board at or following the close of the formal hearing is 
final, unless a petition for reconsideration or rehearing is granted.  In this case, the 
subsequent order is the final order for purposes of judicial review.  Licensees may 
file a petition with the district court for judicial review of the Board's decision within 
30 days of issuance of the decision following procedures governed by NRS 233B.  
 
 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 127



Public Book Board Meeting Page 128



Public Book Board Meeting Page 129



Public Book Board Meeting Page 130



If you have documents relevant to the allegations contained in your complaint, 
please attach copies of the documents with this complaint form. 

Note: Do not complete the attached Verification Form until you are before a notary 
Once the Verification Form is complete. Return the Verification Form along with 
the Complaint Form. 

Note: Please complete the Authorization to Release Records Form (this form does not need 
to be notarized) and Return the Authorization to Release Records Form along with 
the Complaint Form. 

Print Name: _____________________ _ 

Signature: ______________________ _ 

Date:-----�-----------

Revised 05/2019 

Once the Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners has received the Complaint Form, Verification Form 
and the Authorization to Release Records Form, the Board will notice the complaint to the licensed dentist 
or dental hygienist. Thereafter, upon receipt of the written response and copy of the dental records filed 
by the dentist or dental [lygienist, the investigative file will be assigned to an investigator to investigate the 
allegations contained in your complaint. 

Please be advised, the General Counsel for the Board is the attorney for the Board Members and Staff, the 
General Counsel does not represent you or the licensee being investigated. For complaints or claims of 
malpractice by filing this complaint this does not toll the statute of limitation period required for filing a 
complaint or claim of ms:ilpractice. 

Mail or Fax the completed Complaint Form, Verification Form and Authorization of 
Release of Records Form to: 

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners 

2651 N Green Valley Pkwy, Ste 104 

Henderson, Nevada 89014 

Fax No: 702.486.7046 

Page 4 

Public Book Board Meeting Page 131



VERIFICATION OF COMPLAINT 

STATE OF _________________ 

COUNTY OF _______________ 

Regarding the complaint submitted to the Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners against _____________ 

______________________________, ______________________________________, first duly sworn, deposes and says: 
(Dentist(s)/Hygienist(s) Name(s))         (Complainant’s Name)

1) That he/she is the Complainant in the aforementioned action;

2) That he/she has read the foregoing statements/complaint to which this verification applies and knows the contents
thereof;

3) That the same is true and correct to his/her own knowledge and belief;

4) That if called upon to testify regarding the statements made in the attached complainant’s complaint, he/she could
do so competently;

5) That he/she will keep and maintain confidential the Dentist’s and/or Dental Hygienist’s answer/response to the
complainant’s complaint and will not use any documents and/or information, if any, received from the Board
regarding Dentist’s and/or Dental Hygienist’s answer/response to the complainant’s complaint in any civil action
or lawsuit (this includes, but is not limited to disclosing, seeking to have admitted into evidence, or producing in
discovery, providing to expert witnesses, etc.);

6) That he/she understands that the investigation into his/her complaint, including the complaint itself, is
confidential;

7) That he/she will keep and maintain the confidentiality of the complaint and any documents and information, if
any, received from the Board regarding the Board’s investigation into his/her complaint, and will instruct his/her
agents and representatives to also maintain said confidentiality;

8) That he/she understands and agrees that complainant’s or his/her representative or agent’s public dissemination or
other failure to maintain the confidentiality of the complaint and/or any documents received concerning the
investigation into the complaint may result in the dismissal of complainant’s complaint.

Subscribed and Sworn before me on this the _________ 
day of ______________, 20___          

__________________________________________ 
Notary Public in and for said State and County 

____________________________________ 
Signature of Complainant   
____________________________________ 
 Address          
_____________________________________ 
City, State, Zip        
_____________________________________ 
Telephone Number        

Public Book Board Meeting Page 132



Public Book Board Meeting Page 133



Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners 

2651 N. Green Valley Pkwy, Ste. 104 • Henderson, NV 89014 • (702) 486-7044 • (800) DDS-EXAM • Fax (702) 486-7046 

(NSPO Rev. 6-13) 

COMPLAINT FORM 

Pursuant to NRS 631.360, the Boord is required upon receipt of o verified complaint in writing from any person setting forth 

facts which, ii proven, would constitute grounds for initiating disciplinary action, investigate the actions of any person 
who practices dentistry or dental hygiene in the state of Nevada. 

The Nevada Stole Boord of -Examiners does not investigate standard of core issues for dental freotmenf(s) tho! was 

performed five years ago or longer. 

Complainant Name: 

Address: 

Phone Number: ______________ _ 

Email address: ___________________ _ 

Dentist or Dental Hygienist Full Name: _________________ _ 

Practice Address: 

Phone Number: _________________ _ 

Name of any subsequent treating dentist or second opinion dentist: 

Note: The Board does not have jurisdiction over office personnel of a dental practice 

Revised 03/2022 Page 1 

nsbde@dental.nv.gov (0)762..,, 

REVISED

Public Book Board Meeting Page 134



What date(s) was the treatment in question performed? 

Provide a detailed summary of the allegations. Please add additional sheets to explain 

the present situation: 

Revised 03/2022 Page 2 

REVISED

Public Book Board Meeting Page 135



Revised 03/2022 Page 3 

REVISED

Public Book Board Meeting Page 136



If you have documents relevant to the allegations contained in your complaint, 
please attach copies of the documents with this complaint form. 

Note: 

Note: 

Print Name: _____________________ _ 

Signature: ______________________ _ 

Date:-----�-----------

Revised 03/2022 Page 4 

Please complete the Verification Form and return along with the 
Complaint Form. 

Please complete the Authorization to Release Records Form and return 
the Authorization to Release Records Form along with the Complaint 
Form. 

Once the Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners has received the Complaint Form, 
Verification Form and the Authorization to Release Records Form, the Board will 
notice the complaint to the licensed dentist or dental hygienist. Thereafter, upon 
receipt of the written response and copy of the dental records filed by the dentist 
or dental hygienist, the investigative file will be assigned to a clinical reviewer 
who will review the case and prepare a report.  Thereafter, the case will then move 
on to the NRS 631.3635 Review Panel for their review and consideration. The NRS 
631.3635 Review Panel will then provide the Board with recommendations for action.

Please be advised, the General Counsel for the Board is the attorney for the Board 
Members and Staff, the General Counsel does not represent you or the licensee being 
investigated. Filing this complaint does not toll the statute of limitation period 
required for filing a civil complaint or claim of malpractice. 

Mail, Fax, or E-Mail the completed Complaint Form, Verification Form, and 
Authorization to Release Records Form to:

Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners 

2651 N Green Valley Pkwy, Ste 104 

Henderson, Nevada 89014 

Fax No: 702.486.7046

E-Mail: nsbde@dental.nv.gov

REVISED

Public Book Board Meeting Page 137



VERIFICATION OF COMPLAINT 

STATE OF _________________ 

COUNTY OF _______________ 

Regarding the complaint submitted to the Nevada State Board of Dental Examiners against _____________ 

______________________________, ______________________________________, first duly sworn, deposes and says: 
(Dentist(s)/Hygienist(s) Name(s))         (Complainant’s Name)

1) That he/she is the Complainant in the aforementioned action;

2) That he/she has read the foregoing statements/complaint to which this verification applies and knows the contents thereof;

3) That the same is true and correct to his/her own knowledge and belief;

4) That if called upon to testify regarding the statements made in the attached complainant’s complaint, he/she could do so 
competently;

5) That he/she will keep and maintain confidential the Dentist’s and/or Dental Hygienist’s answer/response to the 
complainant’s complaint and will not use any documents and/or information, if any, received from the Board regarding 
Dentist’s and/or Dental Hygienist’s answer/response to the complainant’s complaint in any civil action or lawsuit (this 
includes, but is not limited to disclosing, seeking to have admitted into evidence, or producing in discovery, providing to 
expert witnesses, etc.);

6) That he/she understands that the investigation into his/her complaint, including the complaint itself, is 
confidential;

7) That he/she will keep and maintain the confidentiality of the complaint and any documents and information, if any, 
received from the Board regarding the Board’s investigation into his/her complaint, and will instruct his/her agents and 
representatives to also maintain said confidentiality;

8) That he/she understands and agrees that complainant’s or his/her representative or agent’s public dissemination or other 
failure to maintain the confidentiality of the complaint and/or any documents received concerning the investigation 
into the complaint may result in the dismissal of complainant’s complaint.

9) By signing this form, I affirm that each document is complete and correct and that all information contained in this 
submission is true under the pains and penalties of perjury and the requirements of NRS Chapter 631 and NAC Chapter 631 
and Nevada law generally. I also acknowledge that if I have directed or authorized a person to complete or submit this 
information on my behalf, I, the Complainant, am fully responsible for the content of the submission.

____________________________________ 
Signature of Complainant   
____________________________________ 
 Address          
_____________________________________ 
City, State, Zip        
_____________________________________ 
Telephone Number        

REVISED

Public Book Board Meeting Page 138



REVISED

Public Book Board Meeting Page 139


	5(c) NRS 631.3635
	5(c)(1) NRS 631.3635
	5(c)(2) NRS 631.3635; NRS 622A.170; NRS 622.330
	5(d) NRS 631.360
	6(b) Governor's Provider Summit Table
	6(c) SB 379 (2021)
	6(c) Email from DHHS
	6(f) NRS 631.190
	6(g) NAC 631.2254
	6(h) NAC 631.2235
	6(i) NAC 631.2254(2)
	6(j) NAC 631.240
	6(j) 2019 Audit Report
	6(j) Complaint Forms



